



European Welfare State Models in Flux

A Comparison of Institutional Change in Germany and in the United Kingdom

Marina Mantay

Student Numbers: 420458 (CZ) /4115694 (NL)

marina.mantay@fu-berlin.de

Tel.: 0032 483 75 19 52

MA European Governance

1st Supervisor: Dr. Femke van Esch

2nd Supervisor: Dr. Oldřich Krpec

Master's Thesis

July, 2015

Table of Contents

List of main Acronyms	2
List of Tables	2
Abstract	3
1. Setting the scene: introduction and research question	4
2. Theoretical background	11
2.1 Typologies of European welfare state models	11
2.2 Why do welfare states self-transform?	16
2.3 Institutional change in advanced European countries: theoretical framework	20
3. Methodology and operationalisation of the research question	24
3.1 Core elements of liberal and conservative welfare regimes	24
3.2 An explanatory model of change	31
4. Case studies	34
4.1 Germany	34
4.1.1 The generosity of the welfare state	34
4.1.2 The extent of non-standard employment	43
4.1.3 Industrial relations	50
4.1.4 Overall conclusions on the developments in the German welfare state	55
4.2 United Kingdom	58
4.2.1 The generosity of the welfare state	58
4.2.2 The extent of non-standard employment	70
4.2.3 Industrial relations	76
4.2.4 Overall conclusions on the developments in the British welfare state	82
5. Conclusion	85
6. Discussion	88
Bibliography	93

List of main Acronyms

MEP = Member of the European Parliament CEE = Central and Eastern Europe CME = Coordinated Market Economies MIG = Minimum Income Guarantee DGB = Deutscher Gewrkschaftsbund MS = Member States EES = European Employment Strategy NEDC = National Economic Development Council EMU = Economic and Monetary Union OECD = Organisation for Economic Cooperation and EP = European Parliament Development ERS = Earnings Related Supplement TU = Trade Union ESM = European Social Model TUC = Trade Union Congress EU = European Union **UB** = Unemployment Benefits JSA = Jobseeker's Allowance **UBII** = Unemployment Benefits II LME = Liberal Market Economies WTO = World Trade Organisation

List of Tables

- 1. Types of institutional change: processes and outcomes (p. 23)
- 2. Core principles of liberal and conservative welfare regimes (p. 30)
- 3. Characteristics of institutional change (p.31)
- 4. Core principles of German social provisions before and after the reforms (p.41)
- 5. Development of atypical employment in Germany 1991-2013 (p. 47)
- 6. Atypical employment and conditions for access to social provisions before and after the reforms (p.48)
- 7. Development of union density and collective bargaining in Germany (p. 54)
- 8. Germany: types of institutional change: processes and outcomes (p.56)
- 9. Core principles of British social provisions before and after the reforms (p.67)
- 10. Development of atypical employment in the United Kingdom 1971-2013 (p.71)
- 11. Atypical employment and conditions for access to social provisions before and after the reforms (p.74)
- 12. Development of union density and collective bargaining in the United Kingdom (p.80)
- 13. United Kingdom: types of institutional change: processes and outcomes (p.83)

Abstract

Objectives: Welfare state reforms have been a focus of domestic policy making in many European countries in recent years. The thesis aims to map out changes in the welfare regimes during the last decades in Germany and the United Kingdom, countries which represent nearly a third of the EU population and encompass two distinct welfare state typologies: conservative and liberal. Methods: In doing so, the work deploys a qualitative and historical analysis, an approach, suitable for a comparative study over a long time period. The exploration of changes in two countries will be made with regard to the generosity of the welfare state, atypical employment contracts and industrial relations, elements which constitute elementary features of modern welfare state regimes. In order to describe the changes, the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen (2005) with the six patterns of change will be applied: drift, layering, exhaustion, conversion, displacement and revitalisation. Results: The German welfare state model experienced a shift in the liberal direction. However it preserved the core features of the conservative welfare regime as well. Thus, the observed changes can predominantly be described as layering, meaning the construction of new institutions alongside similar existing institutions. The British welfare regime was liberalised as well which made it look more similar to the US welfare state model than to the prototype of the ESM. New Labour government attempted to regain some social features of the Anglo-Saxon traditions. However, they were implemented applying the neoliberal logic as well. Similarly to Germany, the main pattern of change was layering. Conclusions: Welfare state regimes are rigid and difficult to transform. Nevertheless, incremental steps can change them, if they occur over a long time period. The thesis supports these assumptions. While both the German and the British welfare states transformed considerably into the direction of the liberal ideal type, neither transformed as strongly that it would fall into a different ideal-typical category. This thesis identifies a number of factors that initiate or reinforce transformation. Furthermore, it also explains, why Germany and the UK liberalised to a different extent. It finds that while the German political system with its multiple veto points increased the rigidity of its welfare state, the liberal reforms fell on particularly fertile ground in the UK, where liberalism was already well established. Political ideology and the political system can explain the different extent of change in the two cases at hand.

1. Setting the scene: introduction and research question

Why in Flux?

Before the first oil crisis, the Member States (MS) of the EU considered themselves as being part of the European Social Model (ESM), including a socially balanced market economy with strong market regulation by the state and a comprehensive set of welfare state arrangements to achieve a high degree of decommodification (Hacker 2013: 2). The end of the post-war boom in Europe was closely related with newly emerging challenges across Europe, including rising unemployment rates, sluggish economic growth, declining rates of productivity as well as growing fiscal and demographic pressures on the welfare states (Vail 2010). Facing these multifaceted challenges, the European governments began to readjust the components of the post-war welfare states to the new reality. This adjustment is closely connected to the consecutive waves of privatisation, deregulation and new public management across the EU countries. The social and political pressure to liberalise the old model was reinforced by some leading countries such as the US and the UK as well as international institutions such as the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), and the European Union (EU) (see e.g. Grahl and Teague 2013: 682).

Bounded changes in the welfare states

Despite the fact that all advanced economies to some degree modified their welfare models, the literature suggests that these modifications differed across countries (see e.g. Bosch et al. 2008). For instance, the share of employees being in temporary employment in 2013 was 6.2 per cent in the United Kingdom, 8.8 per cent in Denmark and 13.3 per cent in Germany. Part-time employment in 2013 accounted for 27 per cent in the UK, 22.4 per cent in Germany but just 2.1 per cent in Bulgaria (OECD 2015b). The data indicates a difference in the extent of labour market flexibilisation and deregulation among the MS.

The new stream of historical institutionalism (e.g. Streeck and Thelen 2005) suggests that even though the overall tendency to deregulate the system applies to all countries, great

differences with regard to the question of "how to deregulate and to which degree" exist. Thereby, the characteristics of the welfare state models before the crisis influence how countries adjust them to the new reality. In practice it does not mean, however, that the liberal/Bismarckian or conservative/Anglo-Saxon models, even after the readjustments, will retain their fundamental ideal-typical features. The gradual changes are probably unlikely to initiate the shift of all elements of the entire model but they may lead to a modification of some (core) elements of the traditional welfare regime. Thus, this thesis analyses and compares the incremental changes that governments and societal actors in Germany and in the United Kingdom undertook to readjust their national welfare regimes. The aim of this analysis is to see how far-reaching these changes were and to evaluate if they were as dramatic that one can speak of a shift in the nature of the model (e.g. from a conservative to the liberal) or if they were rather modest in extent.

These observations lead to the following question that this thesis desires to answer:

What changes of the welfare state models can be observed in Germany and in the United Kingdom during the last decades and how can they be described?

Structure of the thesis

The thesis is structured as follows. After the introduction, it applies Esping-Andersen's (1990) as well as Hall and Soskice's (2001) concepts to present the core elements of representative welfare typologies. Since neither concept can explain the transformations of the welfare regimes, they will be used primarily to describe the features which constitute the backbones of liberal and conservative welfare concepts. These features are widely accepted among welfare states' researchers. Because Esping-Andersen was a pioneer in classifying the Western European welfare states, all following contributions dealing with this topic, rely on him. In essence, it makes no difference to label Germany a Bismarckian or conservative prototype (and the British welfare as liberal or Anglo-Saxon) because the ideal-typical elements of the models designed by Esping-Andersen remain unchanged (see e.g. Esping-Andersen 1996; Ferrera 1996; Hall and Soskice 2001).

Thereafter, the thesis proceeds with a carefully elaboration on possible explanations for the changes in the welfare state regimes, taking into consideration various angles. Crises are likely to reinforce the rethinking of the welfare state models, especially if the states are

suffering from high unemployment rates that undermine the social cohesion and lead to exclusion of some parts of society. However, adaptation pressure may also come from the MS of the EU themselves, by actively uploading their employment models to the European level (such as the neo-liberal concept advocated by Thatcher). Pressure to change can additionally stem from increased globalisation and financialisation of markets, the development of new technologies or new forms of governance. It can also be articulated by supranational organisations such as the OECD, the EU with its European Employment Strategy (EES) and the World Trade Organisation (WTO). For instance, Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) has played a role in changing patterns of the welfare state systems. Monetary integration has had consequences for macroeconomic performance and distribution at the level of individual economies but also for labour market institutions (see Hemerijck 2002: 19). The direct effects of domestic budgetary and fiscal policy have had major implications for welfare state finances. Moreover, the Employment Chapter in the Amsterdam Treaty paved the way for labour market flexibilisation (see ibid.: 37).

Since there are a great number of national and supranational actors involved and many factors responsible for the gradual modifications of the welfare state models, it is unrealistic to draw a clear dividing line between all of them. Neither is it possible to measure the degree of their influence. However, it is fruitful to pay attention to all possible explanations. Therefore, a clearer distinction will be made in the country-specific sections showing that some factors have played a greater role for some countries than others. For now, it is important to understand that the changes under investigation occurred in times of crisis in order to address emerged challenges.

After a careful elaboration on possible explanations for the changes, some remarks on the methodological instruments used in the thesis will be made. This work mostly relies on qualitative and historical analysis which are suitable instruments in order to research the last decades of welfare state reforms in two selected countries. In doing so, three domains used to observe changes in the welfare regimes will be operationalised. They are: the generosity of the welfare state, atypical employment and the organisation of the industrial relations with a particular focus on the role of trade unions. In like manner, the enhanced theoretical framework from Streck and Thelen (2005), which explains the possible patterns of outcomes of incremental changes, will be applied to analyse the reforms in the German and the British

welfare regimes. The thesis will proceed with the case studies, first with Germany and then with the United Kingdom. After a short summary of the findings, a conclusion will be drawn and the emerging challenges briefly discussed.

In the next part of the introduction, the justification for the topic and for the selected cases will be made. Additionally, the theoretical approach will be briefly introduced.

Why Germany and the United Kingdom?

The thesis contributes to the empirical research on the influential theoretical model advanced by Streeck and Thelen (2005), by gathering evidence on institutional changes in the welfare state models of two selected countries.

Germany and the UK have been chose because their welfare states affect nearly a third of the EU's population. Moreover, the two countries are often cited as being very representative of two typical models of European welfare states. The United Kingdom is often described as a residual state with a laissez-faire approach, social programmes with an emphasis on poverty alleviation and largely deregulated and flexible labour market. Contrasting with that, Germany is often portrayed as having earnings-based social insurance transfers aimed at preserving status, with the labour market much more regulated by the state and with the tradition of corporatists negotiations (see Clasen 2005: 2).

For the purpose of the thesis it is irrelevant which influential contribution on welfare state models to rely on, Esping-Andersen's three worlds of welfare capitalism (1990), Hall and Soskice and their varieties of capitalism (2001) or Ferrera's (1996) work. Germany and Great Britain not only always ended up in different typological categories but they have also been considered as paradigmatic representatives of distinct European welfare regimes (Clasen 2005:2). The thesis will therefore observe the two countries having in mind that each of them represents a particular model: the United Kingdom as the representative of the liberal or Anglo-Saxon model and Germany as the representative of the conservative or Bismarckian model¹ (Bosch et al. 2009: 10).

¹ More precisely, embedded within the context of comparative welfare state research, and especially in contemporary European welfare state development, this thesis analyses the reforms of German and British welfare states since the end of the 1970s. To be more concrete, the starting point for the research is the year 1979 in the UK, and the year 1982 in Germany, in which the Conservative governments took office. Some

Gradual institutional changes: a theoretical approach

There are a great number of contributions trying to understand institutional reforms taking into consideration institutional persistence (see e.g. Bosch et al. 2009; Hemerijck 2002; Scharpf and Schmidt 2000). However, only recently have scholars of historical institutionalism started to argue that incremental changes can also lead to a significant shift of the welfare state model (see e.g. Streeck and Thelen 2005). Before that, the key idea was that the welfare regimes even confronted with challenges will retain their core elements as the rigidity is stronger than the pressure to change (see e.g. Hall and Soskice 2001). The argument was that there is a relatively tight connection between path-dependency and policy inertia, causing a "lock in" effect, whereby policy choices made in the past become difficult to reverse, even in times of crisis (Hemerijck 2002: 16). Therefore, European welfare states facing similar challenges do not seem to lead to convergent policy responses (Hemerijck 2002: 16).

Although, this assumption has its merits, it is not really helpful to understand incremental changes which can indeed slowly transform core elements of the welfare regime. In fact, welfare states are not as rigid as predicted by many scholars, since in many cases path-dependence can be overcome. Factors such as policy mistakes can for instance force politicians to deviate from a traditional root and to shift their political ideology. New elections and the change of government can facilitate the process of reforms as well. Hence, another model is needed addressing gradual changes that may or may not lead to a transformation of the core elements of a welfare model.

Thus, in order to analyse institutional reforms bound by path-dependence, I rely on Streeck and Thelen (2005), scholars who attempt to explain incremental changes within a society, which can lead to a transformation of key elements of a welfare state model. They developed an analytical approach how incremental change is taking place, leading either to a "reproduction by adaptation" or to "gradual transformation" (Streeck and Thelen 2005). An example can be that the former socialist economy in East Germany exerted substantial pressure on the German model as a whole. This helped to push Germany away from its path-dependant development into the direction of the liberal employment models (Bosch et al.

2009: 17-18). Moreover, they develop a set of labels to approach the changes in the logic of the welfare state. These labels are: **drift, layering, displacement, conversion,** and **exhaustion**. Based on the critics of the model of Streeck and Thelen, I will add to it an additional sixth element which is **revitalisation**. The explanation of the above presented categories will be addressed in the theoretical chapter in greater detail.

In order to approach the question of what changes occurred in the welfare state models in the UK and in Germany and how they can be explained, I will use three domains along which I will compare the current state of the welfare state regimes with their initial position at the beginning of the analysis. In Germany and in the United Kingdom, I will carefully examine the developments of the following domains: the industrial relations and the role of trade unions, the extent of non-standard employment and the access to the welfare system and in particular fundamental social services.

Of course, other policy domains could be included. However, domains were chosen that constitute backbones of each modern welfare regime and thus cover a great part of it (see also Bosch et al. 2009). Therefore, they can shed light on the reforms in Germany and the United Kingdom. Moreover, the thesis does not aim at encompassing the whole German and British welfare state elements. The goal of the work is more modest, though important: to analyse the core features of the welfare state models which have been at the centre of political reform and debates for some decades. This applies to the German welfare state reforms following the extension of atypical employment and the decreasing role of trade unions. It similarly applies to the British welfare state which under Thatcher moved in the neo-liberal direction implementing heavy restrictions on trade unions, cutting welfare state benefits and flexibilising labour standards.

Data to be used

In order to approach the research question, I will mainly rely on secondary literature and the statistical databases of Eurostat, Statista, the OECD and other relevant sources. These methods shall support the overall structure and background of the study and contribute to answering the research question. The thesis will additionally rely on a limited set of semi-structured interviews conducted with longstanding MEPs and representatives of the social partners at EU level. The interviews will be conducted in person. Together with the methods

outlined above, they will help to understand the changes which occurred in the national welfare state models. After exploring the changes in two selected countries, the thesis will come up with a short summary of the findings and a discussion.

Why this topic?

Both the societal as well as scientific relevance of the research is obvious. From the societal perspective, the welfare state is in the heart of each community life. It builds a key political relationship which is shaped and shared by the power dynamics between capital and labour and the distribution of income within society (Bosch et al. 2009). The research, therefore, will help to better understand the mechanism behind changes with regard to the welfare state models paying attention to the cultural and ideological differences of the European countries. It also helps to understand the future challenges based on the insight of findings in the welfare state field.

From the scientific perspective, the thesis is located within the current discourse on the direction and nature of welfare state transformation. It aims at identifying historically contingent reform paths in the fields of employment relationships, industrial bargaining with an emphasis on the trade unions as well as the shape of the welfare state provisions (see Clasen 2005). These three elements are chosen, since they assume a key position in each modern welfare regime. In particular, the thesis aims at contributing to the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen (2005), which is underpinned only by a limited number of empirical studies. Thus, more empirical research must be conducted in order to shed light on the existing theoretical model (see e.g. Béland 2007; Rocco and Thurston 2014). Therefore, the thesis at hand attempts to contribute to the empirical analysis concerning the question of institutional change, using the praxis of Germany and the United Kingdom and analysing the incremental changes in their welfare state regimes over time. In order to better understand the mode of changes, the present work will use the enhanced model of Streeck and Thelen (2005).

2. Theoretical Background

2.1 Typologies of European welfare state models

This section addresses the origins of the welfare state models and their categorisations. The aim is to provide an overview of the concepts in the field and to explain why Germany and the United Kingdom have been always put in different typological boxes. Moreover, it offers distinctive features of two selected countries which will be used later in the case studies to explain welfare state changes.

"The term (...) [welfare state] appears to have originated in its German form *Wohlfahrtsstaat* in the later nineteenth or early twentieth century" (Cousins 2005:4). In the thesis, the broad definition, developed by Esping-Andersen will be used². According to him, the broader view focusses on the state's larger role in managing and organising the economy. In contrast to the narrow concept of the welfare state concentrating mainly on income transfers and social services, the broader view includes other elements as well. Thus, not only the generosity of the social state but also issues of employment, wages, and overall macro-economic steering are considered integral components of the welfare-state complex (Esping-Andersen 1990).

Over recent years, a number of researchers have contributed to the concepts of national welfare state models (see e.g. Arts and Gelissen 2002; Bonoli 1997; Castels 1998; Cousins 2005; Esping Andersen 1990 and 1996; Urbe 2013). One of the most influential authors in this field is Esping-Andersen who developed a "ranking" of how advanced a welfare state is, putting north-western Europe in the first position. This typology evolved along the lines of two major components. The first one is the **degree of decommodification** which is defined as exit from the labour market with little or no loss of income. This word comes from the verb "to commodify" or the noun "commodity". When workers are commodified, they must sell their labour-power on the market to survive which means that in a certain way they become a commodity. The highest degree of decommodification implies that they do not have to sell their labour to survive and thus they are emancipated from market dependence.

² The broad definition developed by Esping-Andersen has been chosen, since the thesis i.a. relies on two Esping-Andersen's ideal types of the welfare state.

It is important to add that the decommodification potential is an "umbrella term" which consists of several indicators such as "(...) eligibility and entitlements criteria, duration of benefits and income replacement levels" (Leschke 2008: 53).

The second element is the organisation of solidarity which can be defined as social policies aiming at a desired social **stratification** (Esping-Andersen 1990). It is measured by status segregation (number of occupationally distinct pension schemes) and by means-testing and share of private-sector welfare. The degree of universalism (share of the population eligible for benefits) and of equality in the benefit structure influences the level of stratification as well (Leschke 2008: 53).

Based on his argumentation, Esping-Andersen has developed three different types of the welfare state: **social-democrat**, **conservative** and **liberal**. Typical representatives of the first model are Scandinavian countries with high benefits, universal entitlements, a high level of decommodification and a low level of social stratification.

The second model is the **conservative** (or Bismarckian) represented by continental Europe with Germany as the ideal type. It implies a medium level of benefits and earnings-related status based entitlements, which are administered by the employer. Practically it means that in comparison to Scandinavian states, conservative welfare regimes provide fewer comprehensive and universal social rights in the way of benefits entitlements, since the level of provisions are linked to the employment status. Notwithstanding, they still provide higher levels of decommodification of labour compared to liberal welfare state models. A similar classification among welfare state concepts is used in the level of protection provided against life-course risk and in the degree to which class and intergenerational inequalities are reduced (Bosch et al. 2009: 7; Esping-Andersen 1990:77). Another important distinction between the social-democratic and continental welfare state type is the extent to which welfare obligations are assigned to the household, rather than the state. In practice this means that the conservative models tend to provide strong incentives for married women to stay at home, concentrating the welfare state benefits on the male breadwinner and therefore supporting "familiarism" (Esping-Andersen 1996: 66).

While conservative social policy can be also seen as seeking to preserve traditional patterns of social stratification, the third **liberal model** aims at the opposite. The key idea of classic

liberal concept is that traditional social patterns constrain individual freedoms, and that a free market gives individuals the ability to fulfil their potential without the paternalism imposed by existing social institutions. Thus, the classical liberalism pursues the aim to liberate economic welfare from social institutions and to make it dependent wholly on the market (see also Scruggs and Allan 2006: 4). The liberal archetype is the Anglo-Saxon model (countries such as the United Kingdom, Ireland, the US, Canada or Australia) with modest benefits, strict, means-tested, recipient stigmatising entitlements, a low level of decommodification and with a social stratification mainly based on market results (cf. Esping-Andersen 1990; 1996). However, one similarity between the Anglo-Saxon and the social-democrat model with regard to the universalism of benefits (priority of the welfare principle over the insurance principle) existed. The UK's social insurance system was inspired by Beveridge and based on principals of equality and universalism. But starting from the 60s, the British system began to stagnate with the gradual privatisation of social insurance (Leschke 2008: 54).

Despite the analytical and conceptual advantages of the Esping-Andersen's model, critics point at several shortcomings. The main argument is that his typology does not pay due attention to national differences. For instance, Arts and Gelissen (2002) argue that it is important to further work on and to refine the typologies suggested. In their opinion, it is a weakness of the model that Esping-Andersen did neither include the Mediterranean³ (or included them in the conservative model), nor the Central and Eastern European countries. Bonoli (1997) argues that Mediterranean welfare-regimes are characterised by a high degree of fragmentation, a lack of an established minimum social protection but rather generous allowances in particular areas.

However, although it is important to be aware of some shortcoming of the Esping-Andersen model, for the purpose of the thesis, they are of less relevance. Germany and the United Kingdom fall within the same category according to consistent opinion among scientists dealing with the welfare state. Thus, the thesis will use Germany as a prototype of the conservative model and the United Kingdom as a representative of the liberal regime.

_

³ Mediterranean countries e.g. are: Spain, Italy, Portugal and Greece.

In order to underpin the argument above, with respect to the choice of the two countries, a second much-cited model will be introduced. It stems from Hall and Soskice (2001) who distinguish between two contrasting typologies among advanced European countries, labelled as "liberal" (LME) versus "coordinated market economies" (CME). Countries, in which social partnership traditions have been deeply integrated, belong to the second category. By contrast, countries in which this institutional embeddedness is missing belong to the liberal market model. The most significant difference between these two models lies in their respective "comparative institutional advantage". It is to say that in coordinated economies the protection of employees' rights is stronger and collective actors, such as employers' organisations and trade unions, play vital roles in establishing cooperative relationships (Hall and Soskice 2001). "Thus, institutions may offer greater opportunities for the formation of strategic alliances between actors and this may induce capital to be "patient" in the short run for the stake of higher revenues in the long run. At the core of this interaction are institutional complementariness, a mutual reinforcement of institutions governing the capital, labour and product markets" (Bosch et al. 2009:6). By way of contrast, liberal market economies rely on institutional settings of a different nature. Usually, they are very open to foreign trade and investment, and have the "volontarist" industrial relations systems (McCormick and Hyman 2013: 24). The main argument of Hall and Soskice is that neither first nor second model is per se more economically efficient, and "both can harness their respective institutional comparative advantages to good effect in the unforgiving global economy". However they note that the CME, with strong labour market institutions and generally more generous social arrangements, implies much lower levels of income inequality than is tolerated in the LME (Hopkin and Blyth 2004: 3). While the first group is represented e.g. by Germany, Belgium and the Netherlands, in the second group countries like the United Kingdom and the United States are included (Bosch et al. 2009:5).

For all their virtues, however, the two models introduced above also have real limits. Firstly, even though they acknowledge change, they do not provide a coherent theoretical framework explaining the transformation of welfare regimes (Leschke et al. 2008:55). For this reason, later on, a second model on incremental change stemming from Streeck and Thelen (2005) will be introduced. Secondly, the theories were written more than a decade ago. Although, they very well capture the differences between the industrial relations and the access to the welfare state systems in the conservative and the liberal models, they did

not include the development with regard to the extent of atypical employment and how it is related to both regimes. They just acknowledge that the conservative model is traditionally associated with stronger employment protection legislation than the liberal one. Of course, it is perfectly understandable why they have not included non-standard employment in their analyses. For instance, the theory of Esping-Andersen was based on the political, socioeconomic and ideological conditions of the 70s and 80s. At that time, atypical forms of contract were still rare or just emerging, and society was prevailed by male breadwinners with relatively stable work conditions (Leschke 2008:55). Esping-Andersen itself later on criticised his approach stating that it is mainly based on programmes concentrating on maintenance of work income and it is rested too much on the standard industrial worker (Esping-Andersen 1999:73, cf. Leschke 2008:55).

However, the existing literature (see e.g. Bosch et al. 2009; Countouris 2007; Keller and Seifert 2013; Schmeißer et al. 2012; Schmid and Protsch 2009; Stone and Arthurs 2013) makes it clear that the atypical employment has become an important topic in the recent years. Therefore, I suggest including a further element, namely the extent of the atypical employment. In that case, the core elements in both welfare state models which will be analysed are: the access to the welfare state systems, the extent of the atypical employment and the industrial relations.

In the methodological chapter, the explanation how the three chosen welfare state elements differ within the two ideal-typical welfare state regimes will be given.

Apart from analysing the differences in the welfare state models, the thesis pays due attention to the changes in their patterns. The idea of the social protection system that has emerged in the 2nd half of the 20th century has undergone several changes and is in an ongoing process of modification until today (Cousins 2005:85). This should not be surprising for us. Welfare states are complex regimes, whose goals, functions, and institutions transform over time, however gradually and incompletely. Currently, changing welfare states closely follow the route of post-formative path-dependent transformation and innovation. Hence, it is necessary to address the politics of changing welfare states, not as rigid models, but, more dynamically, as open regimes closely linked with the processes of evolutionary social and economic modifications (ibid.).

Besides the description of the social models, majority of contributions therefore addresses the question of the transformation of the welfare states. Esping-Andersen, for instance, argues that modern welfare regimes have opted for more deregulation and privatisation in order to overcome high unemployment rates and the economic crisis, which started at the end of the 70s (Esping-Andersen 1996:8). However, he also emphasises that path-dependence plays an important role in how the models have been reshaped. He claims that the UK has opted for the most liberal ideology, whereas Germany has remained faithful to the conservative model (ibid. 10ff.). However, as noticed above, these observations are quite limited. Although, Esping-Andersen provides fruitful insights to demonstrate that welfare state struggle with emerging challenges, he does not develop a theoretical framework to explain the self-transformation of welfare regimes.

Bosch et al. (2009) are also concerned with the question of challenges to the welfare models in Europe and responses to them. They try to analyse either the national models have been maintained, revitalised, reshaped or even destabilised during their transformation. The researchers seek to evaluate the changes in the patterns of the welfare regimes in order to analyse the consequences of these modifications. In doing so, they use the theory of Streeck and Thelen (2005) which is supportive in exalting incremental changes.

Continuing the tradition of the contributors mentioned above and perceiving welfare states as dynamic concepts to steer society, this thesis aims not only at describing the different concepts of the social models but at observing patterns of change. The extent of atypical employment relations, the development of the welfare state generosity as well as the changing role of the industrial relations and the role of trade unions in particular are used as concepts to observe changes.

2.2 Why do welfare states self-transform?

In order to understand contemporary welfare state challenges, it is vital to analyse why they are in flux. The present section summarises frequently used explanations on the welfare state changes. These explanations also form part of a theoretical framework which will be presented in a later stage. To be more precise, the outcome of the transformation is often dependent on the causes of the changes.

The fact that the welfare regimes have changed over time is undisputed among authors dealing with the welfare states. However, there are conflicting views on how far these changes go and why welfare states change at all. Concerning the first issue, two prevailing streams of literature exist: the first describes the welfare state as being rigid, stable and unlikely to radically change. An influential contribution to this view is written by Pierson (1996), emphasising continuity over change. The key idea of this work is that in the last decades welfare state models have experienced great pressure, struggling with emerging challenges such as high unemployment rates. In order to address new challenges, governments have modified some minor elements of social policies. However, the core elements of social provisions which were developed during the post-war period have remained stable over time and will continue to exist.

The second stream of literature takes the opposite stand, pointing out to welfare state regimes which are less rigid and open for changes. An influential contribution stems from Thelen (2004) who is convinced that welfare states are able to overcome the path dependence and to modify themselves even though the process of modification might take many years and be fulfilled through small and less visible steps than radical changes. The key message of this work is that it is fruitful to investigate the stable periods in which the majority of gradual changes take place that can have the same effects as a crucial external shock (see also Béland 2007). Another work (Streek and Thelen 2005) describes the gradual transformation of modern capitalism in advanced European countries driven by the idea of social market economy to more market-oriented and market-accommodating capitalism without dramatic disruptions such as wars or revolutions (Streeck and Thelen 2005: 4). This thesis is affiliated to the second view, since there is strong evidence that the welfare regimes have changed over time and therefore cannot be described as stable and rigid any more (see e.g. Bosch et al. 2009; Hemerijck 2002).

There is a multitude of factors that come into question as potential explanations for change. This part will provide an overview, while the case specific influence and combination of factors will be analysed in detail in the case studies below.

There is a great variety of welfare state regimes. However many scholars who observe the European models of welfare state refer to the ESM. It was introduced to describe the commonalities which all European models share and to distinguish them from both the

market-oriented United States and the Communist regimes (see also introduction of the thesis). The ESM is closely connected to some constrains of capitalism, within which there is place to develop and to maintain a public space and to protect rights of citizens and employees. These shared beliefs are the basis for the ESM (Bosch et al. 2009: 2). However, this common ground is increasingly challenged by external and internal factors (ibid.).

The pressure to reshape the national models has been fortified through different channels: through national politicians being put under economic and financial constraints, through international organisations such as the EU which has developed several guidelines how to cope with emerging challenges. It came also from the WTO and the OECD. Changes in international governance, for instance, play an important role in the liberalisation process. They include, e.g., international agreements aiming at opening up markets and removing trade barriers (like the EU Directives on competition, which imply freedom to provide services or various WTO rules) (Keller and Seifert 2013: 467).

The pressure to change can be captured in three broad intertwined categories: economic, demographic, and ideological (Ervasti et al. 2012: 8).

When health service, unemployment and other social expenditures started to rise more rapidly than the public revenues, the **economic** sustainability of the welfare state was questioned (Ibid.).

Globally dominant ideologies and the public discourses connected to them are an important channel to put pressure on national welfare regimes. They question the compatibility of competitiveness with high employees and social standards and lobby for less strict rules in order to compete at the international arena (Ervasti et al. 2012: 8). As a case in point, trade competition led to many labour intensive Western European industries shifting their production sites to Eastern Europe and South East Asia (Hemerijck 2013: 53). The purpose was to decrease the costs of production and to persuade states to relax their labour standards.

Another critical dimension is the globalisation of finance. As a result of the economy globalisation as well as the deregulation of the international finance, macro trade imbalances in the last ten-fifteen years have been increased. While emerging Asian markets such as Singapore or China have produced large current account surpluses, other countries

such as the US, Spain or Greece have run large current account deficits. This happened mainly because some countries such as Germany and China have accumulated high savings (ibid.: 55f.). Moreover, through liberalisation and deregulation, states moved away from more spending during crises towards greater austerity. "While economic internationalisation constrains countercyclical macroeconomic management, increased openness exposes generous welfare states to trade competition, because capital is allowed to cross borders and move to countries with lower social costs" (ibid. 56). Thus, instead of prioritising lower unemployment rates and income equality, the European states are forced to prioritise the goal of balanced public budgets as well as low inflation fiscal and monetary policies (ibid.).

Concluding, it can be said that the literature identifies a number of factors that impinge on the economic sustainability of the welfare state, many of which can be related to the globalisation of production, services and capital markets.

The second challenge for the welfare state regimes is connected to the **demographic** change in European societies. On the one hand, there are more elderly people due to a higher life expectancy. On the other hand, low birth rates lead to ageing societies. Due to the aging population, the state is forced to spend more on pensions and health care for the elderly, the costs of which have to be covered by a stagnating or decreasing working population (Ervasti et al. 2012: 8). Another challenge is related to the changing patterns of family structures. A number of researches highlight the growing diversity of living arrangements as well as the emergence of new family forms (such as unmarried cohabitation, divorce, lone parenthood, and family reconstitution). The boundaries of families have expanded beyond the nuclear married couple with children which forces to rethink the traditional welfare state models often based on the male-breadwinner welfare provision (Hantrais 2003).

The **ideological** challenge is closely linked to the economic situation in a country. The economic crises in the 1970s were the turning point towards political liberalism, with an increased trust in market forces and as little as possible government intervention in the economic and in societal matters. This shift in the ideology has been manifested through the fall of communism and the openness of new markets in the CEE. The trust in market solutions has slowly convinced social-democrat parties which began to undertake reforms in the direction of liberalisation and flexibilisation of labour market (Ervasti et al. 2012: 8).

To sum up, in the last three decades, the European welfare state models have been put under pressure from different angles: economic, demographic and ideological. However, states are expected to resist these pressures. The reason behind this is that states are stable and rigid, unwilling to modify the well-proven strategies. Only crucial events such as revolutions or upheavals can lead to sudden ideological shift. This theoretical framework is known as historical institutionalism, underling the importance of path dependence (see e.g. Thelen 1999). However, analyses undertaken above indicate that there is evidence that national models did not preserve their traditional ideologies and often modified their welfare regimes in order to cope with the emerging challenges. How can the historical institutionalism then explain this transformation, without being able to identify crucial external shocks? In the next section, the theoretical insights of this question will be provided.

2.3 Institutional change in advanced European countries: theoretical framework

This section provides a theoretical framework in order to explain incremental changes in the welfare state systems over time. Although the question what causes change remains disputed, some sophisticated analytical tools exist in order to approach the question "how institutions evolve" (Béland 2007:20). Before proceeding with the theoretical framework, it is important to define what (welfare) institutions are. Welfare encompasses a various set of institutions, both formal and informal. Despite an increasing number of contributions sailing under the flag of institutionalism, there is no universally accepted definition of institutions (Weishaupt 2011: 26). This thesis follows Weishaupt, who defines institutions "(...) as formalised rules, which are enforceable by a third party". The key advantage of this definition is that it is comparatively narrow and concrete, without being overly deterministic (ibid.: 38f.).

The starting point of the theoretical analysis is historical institutionalism, which assumes that "(...) a historically constructed set of institutional constraints and opportunities affects the behaviour of political actors and interest groups involved in the policy process" (Béland 2007: 21; Thelen 1999). Scholars of historical institutionalism have paid attention to the

question of the long-term impact of institutional legacies on policy making, pointing out the importance of radical change. Only recently, the theory of historical institutionalism began to emphasise the importance of gradual institutional change (Béland 2007: 21; see also Streeck and Thelen 2005; Thelen 2004).

The book written by Thelen (2004) criticises the rigid nature of historical institutionalism being unable to explain incremental changes. Early scholars of historical institutionalism have presumed that institutions change over time because of exogenous shocks leading to the detachment from path dependence and giving impetus for transformation. Thelen does not fully reject the idea of dramatic disruptions such as wars and revolutions being typical for the first half of the twentieth century. However, she holds that most changes occur outside of these crucial junctures and that in many cases, the gradual causes of changes are more likely to play the major role for institutional transformation. Her key message is that it is vital to pay greater attention to the supposedly stable periods so as to fully understand the institutional change. In these periods a majority of gradual changes take place that can have the same effects as a crucial external shock (Béland 2007; Thelen 2004). Streeck and Thelen point to the problem that because the gradual change is not as visible as the abrupt one, many influential authors show only little interest and prefer to argue that continuity dominates change. The common view with regard to the welfare state regimes, for instance, is that while they are probably facing difficult times, being forced to take the path of austerity, social policy provisions remain secure, since they are placed on the core of each advanced economic country, being strengthened with popularity among people and connected to the a certain standard of life (Streeck and Thelen 2005: 6).

As a result of the criticism mentioned above, scholars started to pay more and more attention to various channels through which institutions may change over time (Rocco and Thurston 2014). Streeck and Thelen (2005: 19), for instance, suggest five different indicators of incremental but nevertheless transformative change which they call displacement, layering, drift, conversion and exhaustion. *Displacement* is described as the replacement of an old institution with a stable new one which usually occurs along with a shift of power. Existent power is undermined or discredited in favour of new paradigm. This can occur as a result of growing number of actors activating, cultivating or rediscovering alternative institutional forms. "(...) [They] defect to a new system, previously deviant, aberrant,

anachronistic, or "foreign" practices gain salience at the expense of traditional institutional forms and behaviours" (Streeck and Thelen 2005: 20). Displacement can occur through a rapid radical breakdown of institutions but it can be a slow-moving process as well. Layering is the construction of new institutions alongside similar existing institutions. This can happen when change is imposed on top of existing regime persistent to changes. New systems coexist parallel to the intractable old. Such amendments can, however, modify the overall direction of an institution's development and bring substantial change (Thelen, 2004:35). **Drift** is defined as institutional change through policy inaction. It can eventuate as a result of ambiguities in processes which force some actors to rethink their previous duties and responsibilities. For instance, "[a] disjuncture between social programmes and changing profiles of social risk can (...) [lead to drift]. [As a case in point], slow changes in families structures may alter the composition of risk and therefore also de facto welfare state coverage" (Streeck and Thelen 2005: 25). Drift occurs, when the institution remains stable but the social situation the institution is meant to regulate changes incrementally. Conversion means a redirection of old institutions to serve new goals. This can occur as a result of changes in political interplay of forces or in environmental changes. What is different in comparison to other forms of changes is that the institution and not its target changes and adapts to an emerging paradigm. *Exhaustion* is institutional breakdown through gradual rather than abrupt collapse. It may occur when institutions become blind to the political or economic changes happen around them and thus they are not adequately prepared to deal with the future (see also Comodromos and Ferrer 2011: 333; Rocco and Thurston 2014:37).

Bosch et al. (2009) pointed out that although these five different modes of incremental change provide a great theoretical framework, they have some limits. For instance, they cannot explain a scenario in which actors might try to "(...) rebuild institutions in an environment where deregulation of product markets threatens the erosion of the social content of the employment models" (Bosch at al. 2009: 17). Hence, it is not clear how Streeck and Thelen can explain the **revitalisation** of the traditional welfare state models though a range of reforms and institutional reforms. Thus, the attention of the thesis will be also paid to possible revitalisation of the welfare regimes.

It is important to note that only a limited number of contributions underpin the theoretical framework of Streek and Thelen. Thus, more empirical studies must be conducted in order to shed light on the existing theoretical model (see e.g. Béland 2007; Rocco and Thurston 2014). Therefore, the thesis at hand attempts to contribute to the empirical analysis concerning the question of institutional change. In doing so, it will use the praxis of two European countries (GE, UK) and analyse the incremental changes in their welfare state regimes over time. Six categories described above will be applied.

Based on the previous observations, I have developed the following matrix, which will be used to evaluate changes that occurred in Germany and in the United Kingdom (see Table 1).

Table 1 Types of institutional change: processes and outcomes

Core Elements of Welfare State	Possible patterns of change			
Access to social provisions for	Drift, Layering, Exhaustion, Conversion, Displacement,			
all types of workers	Revitalisation			
Extent of atypical employment	Drift, Layering, Exhaustion, Conversion, Displacement,			
contracts	Revitalisation			
Density of trade unions and	Drift, Layering, Exhaustion, Conversion, Displacement,			
system of collective bargaining	Revitalisation			

(Sources: own completion based on Busch et al. 2009; Streeck and Thelen 2005).

The table above summarises the theoretical framework of the previous section. It clearly shows that all three core elements of the welfare state may face six possible outcomes. There is no direct link between a particular element of the welfare state and the potential result. However, factors that have been presented above may play an important role in which direction the transformation heads. Thus, during the case studies, I will try not only to carefully examine the outcomes of reforms, but also to understand why a transformation took place. After each case, the same table will be drawn, comprising findings of Germany and the United Kingdom. In the last section, the findings will be compared.

3. Methodology and operationalisation of the research question

What follows is the brief introduction to the domains under investigation: the extent of atypical employment, the changing role of trade unions, and developments in the generosity of the welfare state. Thereafter, an explanation of how they differ within the two ideal-typical welfare state regimes will be given.

3.1 Core elements of liberal and conservative welfare regimes

1) The access to the welfare system and in particular fundamental social services

The idea of the social protection system has emerged in the 2nd half of the 20th century and has already undergone several changes being under process of modification until today (Cousins 2005:85). "Welfare state change is a work in progress, leading to patchwork mixes of old and new policies and institutions, on the lookout perhaps for more coherence" (Hemerijck 2013:11). Usually, the term "welfare" implies an active role of the state in governing economic and societal structures aiming at achieving a more equal society (Leschke 2008: 52). However, some distinctive features between the liberal and the conservative regimes with respect to the access to the welfare provisions exist.

The access to the welfare system: Britain and Germany compared

The United Kingdom introduced compulsory unemployment insurance in 1911 with the objective of an active search for work. Later on, it was strongly influenced by the Beveridge reforms in the 1940s with the main goal to combat underemployment "(...) by distinguishing between workers actually seeking employment, and therefore entitled to benefit, and (...) "unemployable" people, dependent on welfare" (Lefresne 2010:175). The scope of social protection has been always limited due to traditional norms of a liberal work ethic (Leschke 2008: 54). The low level of benefits with a strong emphasis on the means-testing and the

short duration of entitlement eligibility have always stigmatised beneficiaries. The aim has always been to encourage jobseekers in finding a new job as quickly as possible. Thus, the level of the decommodification has been traditionally low in the UK.

The German welfare roots date back to the time of Bismarck, who in 1873 created a social insurance system that rested upon the occupational and class status. This pay-as-you-go system is based on contributions through which a worker acquires claims to later benefits. The purpose of the German welfare system has been to guarantee workers a high level of security and predictability by maintaining an individual's position in the income hierarchy or their social status acquired through work (Veil 2010: 61). Traditionally, these guarantees were granted only to male workers with standard contracts and their families. Solidarity has always played much more important role in Germany than in the UK. However, the state has usually stepped in only in case the self-support capacity within the family has been exhausted. Thus, German citizens have traditionally enjoyed a moderate level of decommodification.

Among the welfare state researchers it is undisputed that the level of **generosity of the** welfare provisions in Germany is higher than in the UK. Esping-Andersen and Hall and Soskice confirm that the conservative welfare state spends more money on social provisions, aiming at status maintenance beyond employment. By contrast, the liberal model emphasises means-tested benefits, which aim in particular at those who are in dare needs (see Esping-Andersen 1996; Hall and Soskice 2001). Nevertheless, even in countries that belong to the liberal model, the grade of generosity may vary, from being almost purely based on individual responsibility, as in the US, to the more generous ones such as the UK.

Thus, in terms of the generosity of the welfare state, two elements will be analysed. The first element is the level but also the duration of the unemployment benefits, together with the conditions for the eligibility. If today's German welfare provisions contain relatively generous unemployment benefits with a quite long duration and an easy access to the entitlements aiming at status maintaining, this would point to the maintenance of the conservative elements. The derogation from these fundamental principles and the retrenchment of the provisions would point to a shift to the liberal model. Together with the unemployment benefits and social assistance, the pension system will be analysed as well. Similarly as the

unemployment benefits, the pension entitlements considerably differ between liberal and conservative models. The emphasis of the liberal system is on private savings, while the conservative system relies on life-long contributions both from the employers' and employees' and topped up by public contributions. Thus, it will be researched, if the German pension system has remained loyal to its ideology or shifted into a liberal direction through introducing private pension schemes.

The same applies the United Kingdom: the terms and conditions of the unemployment benefits and social assistance as well as the pension schemes will be investigated with the aim to see if the welfare state provisions maintained the traditional role or moved to a more liberal or conservative direction.

In order to make the results more precise, the six suggested concepts measuring the direction of the transformation will be used: drift, layering, exhaustion, conversion, displacement and revitalisation.

2) Employment relations in advanced economies

For more than four decades after 1945, workers enjoyed a range of social rights in the majority of industrialised countries. They included protections against unfair treatment at work, decent wages, health insurance, vacation entitlements as well as old age assistance. These rights comprised what is usually referred to as the typical employment contract (Stone and Arthurs 2013:2). For instance, in order to assure a high level of job security, most advanced countries guaranteed workers effective protection against arbitrary dismissals, made redundancies prohibitively expensive, and limited the ability of employers to use atypical workers, like those hired on temporary or short-term contracts. Therefore, the standard employment contract, though not universal but with country as well as with group-specific differences, constituted a norm (ibid.).

Additionally, in many developed countries, the standard employment contract was the platform from which many other social rights mentioned above were derived. It gave the dependent workers a strong feeling of security and foreseeable future, supporting them to invest in housing or other capital goods, planning marriage and parenthood in advance. Furthermore, the standard employment contract, through providing governments with solid

revenue streams on the basis of income and consumption taxes, enabled the post-war welfare state (ibid.; Countouris 2007:55).

Starting from the mid-1970s, globalisation, new technology and other developments in the political, economic and social environment, have increasingly placed the traditional legal shape of employment under strain (Countouris 2007: 41). Consequently, the legal and regulatory strictures once facilitated, provided and protected the traditional employment model have been partly replaced by new types of employment structures. They have meant that fewer and fewer workers are covered by standard employment contracts, which has led to increased job insecurity and its disadvantageous consequences (Stone and Arthurs 2013:3).

However, it is vital to emphasise that the industrialised countries have always varied in the organisation of the employment contracts, which can partly explain the differences nowadays. For instance, because of the differences in the employment relationship, the implementation of concrete forms of atypical employment may differ significantly in Germany and in the UK. But its overall increase over the last decades constitutes a general trend (JILPT 2011)⁴. Thus, in the next part, the core differences between the liberal and the conservative welfare state models in terms of the employment relationship will be pointed out. The operationalisation of the employment relationship domain is necessary to answer the research question.

Employment relations: Germany and Britain compared

While in Germany, the worker-protective regulation has been deeply integrated into the conception of the standard employment contract, the traditional employment relationships in the UK have been a conventional practice rather than a truly integrated legal paradigm (Freedland 2013: 87).

The trade unions in Germany have for many decades played a crucial role in serving as watchdogs of labour rights and high labour standards. In the United Kingdom, to the contrary, the employment protection legislation has never been as strong as in Germany

⁴ Atypical employment relations are defined below as the derogation from the typical full employment relation. Due to country specific characteristics, there will be an operationalization in each of the country specific parts. Comparability is safeguarded by the identification of similar features and comparative statistics.

(Hopkin and Blyth 2004: 3). Thus, while the conservative model has been associated with decent work and collective responsibility to provide good quality jobs, the liberal welfare state has favoured an individual responsibility in this matter.

From these observations the following assumptions derive: the forms of atypical employment are rather associated with a liberal welfare regime because they are putting a strong emphasis on the self-responsibility of individual workers. The expansion of the atypical employment contracts in Germany would mean that it has moved closer to the liberal idea of self-responsibility. On the other hand, the reduction in non-regular work would mean the revitalisation of the traditional conservative idea. If the number of employees with non-standard contracts remains more or less stable this would point out to the stability of the German model. The same applies for the UK, with a difference that British workers traditionally have enjoyed fewer rights than their German colleagues.

However, not only the quantitative data matter. It might be e.g. the case that the atypical employment has quantitatively grown in both countries but it is more strongly protected in one country than in the other, for instance in terms of access to social rights. Thus, the extent of atypical employment will be linked to qualitative indicators and the other two domains under investigation. The aim is to develop a connection between three elements and to explain them mutually. In particular, the access to welfare provisions such as unemployment benefits and pension schemes as well as the protection of atypical workers through trade unions' will be also compared.

3) The industrial relations and the role of trade unions

The period after the end of World War II, which lasted about 30 years, is considered to be the "Golden Age" not only because of economic growth but also due to trade unionism in the advanced European economies. By 1950, trade unions organised in average between a third and two-thirds of workers, exercising considerable influence on national decision-making processes and being important actors in promoting sustained economic growth. (Phelan 2007: 16).

However, due to the economic shocks of the 1970s, the "Golden Age" came to an end for the trade unions as well. As already noticed, two categories of countries with distinct patterns of labour relationship can be differentiated: countries, in which social partnership traditions were deeply integrated, the CME and countries, in which this institutional embeddedness was missing, the LME (Bosch et al. 2009:5).

It is to say that the first group has suffered less from the economic crisis, than the latter one, in which the union power and union density declined significantly (e.g. in the UK density decreased from 55 per cent in 1979 to only 25 per cent in 2013) (OECD 2015a). In the CME trade unions were better embedded politically, which retarded their declined even though they could not evade it either (Phelan 2007:18). For instance, density in Germany fell from ca. 29 per cent in 1995 to 17.7 per cent in 2013 (ibid.; Keller and Seifert 2013: 460). However, the problem of an eroding membership is not the only one. Rather trade unions have been facing several difficulties (Ebbinghaus 2002: 3). The decline in both union density and membership are often discussed in connection with structural, cyclical, and institutional factors.

Industrial relations from a German and a British perspective

Both Esping-Andersen and Hall and Soskice emphasise the respective differences between the industrial relations in Germany and the United Kingdom. The LME or liberal model is associated with a voluntary character and non-binding outcomes of negotiations between the social partners. On the contrary, the SME or conservative model is characterised by strong collective actors playing a crucial role in establishing cooperative relationships binding collective agreements (see Esping-Andersen 1996; Hall and Soskice 2001). However solely institutional embeddedness of social partners do not provide the entire information about the strengths of the trade unions. As the UK's case studies will show, the trade unions, even without enjoying a favourable legal basis, could play an important role in the employment matters for some decades. They have never been as strong as the trade unions in conservative welfare states but rather influential for a liberal model. Thus, the distinction between liberal and conservative model primarily shows the way of coordination and organisation of the industrial relations.

Consequently, two elements of the industrial relations in Germany will be analysed: the density of trade unions and the role of collective bargaining. In Germany, the density of trade union has been never as high as e.g. in some Scandinavian countries (OECD 2015a). However, the membership in a trade union has played a vital role due to its social relevance.

To be more precise, trade unions have been seen as conflict insurance in case of arbitrary dismissal or other legal disputes. Only members were eligible to use the expertise of the workers' organisations. Additionally, the unions are fully financed by their members and consequently dependent on their membership.

Thus, a significant decline in the membership of the TU would indicate a decreasing power as well. Contrary to that, a growth in membership would mean an increasing power of the trade unions. The statistics on the TU density do not tell much about the transformation of the industrial relations in a particular direction, since the density of the British trade unions before the oil crisis was higher than in Germany (OECD 2015a). Thus, it makes more sense to observe developments in unions' density in conjunction with other indicators. A significant decline in coverage of collective agreements in Germany would point into the liberal direction of the welfare regimes, since the liberal model has never had an embedded institution of collective bargaining. However, it is important to take these two indicators not as separate things but together, since the density of the membership to a great extent influences the success of collective bargaining (Interviewee A).

In case of the United Kingdom, the density of the TU will also be analysed, since in the same manner as in Germany, the number of members partly indicates the power of the unions. A declining membership would also mean a power decrease because the British trade unions are also financed by their members. Since the collective bargaining as institutional embeddedness has never existed in the UK but has been based on the voluntarily character, we also need to observe legislative amendments. They might point to both directions: the role of trade unions might be weakened or strengthened.

As already stated above, the influence of trade unions and the forms of employment contracts are interrelated. In practice it means that the extension of atypical employment might also point to the weakening role of the trade unions (Ebbinghaus 2002: 3). Table 2 summarises the key elements for both welfare regimes.

Table 2 Core principles of ideal-typical liberal and conservative welfare regimes

Welfare Regimes Type	Liberal/Anglo-Saxon	Continental/Conservative	
Prominent representatives	UK, US	Germany, Netherlands	
Unemployment benefits	Residual	Employment based	
	Entitlements with poverty	Entitlements with income	

Alleviation objective maintenance objective Means-tested Non means-tested Of short duration (6 months or Longer duration (1 year or
Of short duration (6 months or Longer duration (1 year or
Of short duration (a months of
less) more)
Restrict access Easy access
Social assistance Means-tested (often combined Means-tested (after the
with the unemployment benefits) exhaustion of the
unemployment benefits)
(Un)limited duration Unlimited duration
(Off)infitted duration
Pension system Very low state pensions Public pay-as-you-go
combined with the private Very high effective replacement
pensions rate
Below the minimum level without Private contribution is not
a private contribution needed
Protection of the standard Liberal work Good quality of work strongly
employment contract ethic (self-reliance) protected by social partners
atypical employment more likely atypical employment less likely
to appear and is less protected to appear and is better
protected
Social partnership and Based on voluntary character Deeply integrated in the society
rade unions in particular Lower coverage with collective High coverage with collective
agreements agreements
Middle range density of trade Middle range density of trade
unions unions

(Sources: own completion based on Hemerijck et al. 2013; Esping-Andersen 1990 and 1996; Hall and Soskice 2001).

3.2 An explanatory model of change

Table 3 below serves as a practical tool to further clarify distinctive features of the six possible observable indicators.

Table 3 Characteristics of institutional change

	Displacement	Layering	Drift	Conversion	Exhaustion	Revitalisation
Removal of old rules	yes	no	no	no	no	yes
Neglect of old rules	-	no	no	no	yes	no

Changed	ı	no	yes	no	no	no
impact						
Enactment of	_	no	no	yes	no	yes
old rules						
Introduction	yes	yes	no	no/yes	no	no/yes
of new rules						

(Sources: own completion based on Mahoney and Thelen 2010).

Let us closely examine this table. The first feature is removal of old rules, which indicates the case of displacement or revitalisation. It means that one or several existing practices must be abolished through a new law. To demonstrate, a particular government abolishes unemployment benefits based on contributions and instead implements something different, e.g. a flat-rate benefit. The second feature is negligence of old rules, which is typical for exhaustion. If the old practices are still in place but ignored by politicians and/or by society, then we face negligence of old rules. An example can be that the system of collective bargaining is an official instrument to conclude employment contracts. However, in practice employers prefer to negotiate working conditions individually, since the reality has changed and trade unions lost their influence to exercise pressure on the employers to accept collective agreements. In this case, we can clearly observe that old practices are neglected, since they exhausted themselves. The third feature is changed impact of old rules, which is distinctive for drift. This can happen through political inaction. To illustrate this, we can imagine that in a country unemployment benefits may be given only to employees and workers, while self-employed are excluded from them. It is not a problem, since only 2 per cent of all working population are self-employed. However, over time, more and more people became self-employed. When they lose their jobs, they now face problems to sustain their life, since they are not eligible to the benefits. Thus, in this example, drift appeared due to the change of reality and an inadequate or non-response of the government. The next feature of the institutional change is enactment of old rules, which can materialise in conversion and revitalisation. To demonstrate, an existing institutional element serving a particular purpose is redirected to carry out another function, which was initially not intended. An example can be that unemployment benefits are also paid for students who otherwise cannot afford studying because there is no other social provision supporting students during their studies. It can happen e.g. in the case that the government recognises that there is a gap in the code of law, which can be closed without introducing new laws. The last characteristic is **introduction of new rules**, which might be the case in displacement, layering and revitalisation. This feature is quite distinctive conditioned upon the implementation of a new law. Depending on other conditions e.g. if the old rules were abolished or not or if the new bill is aiming at deregulation a field or rather at regulating it stricter, we can speak about one of the three possible patterns of change. An example can be an introduction of a non-means tested unemployment benefit, which has not existed before.

Last but not least, it is worth mentioning that the reality is more complex than the theoretical model and thus it is not always possible to provide a clear-cut set of characteristics. For this reason, the table also serves as a simplification of the possible changes as well as a helpful illustration to which the reader can return during the reading process. This might be of particular use while approaching the case studies section.

4. Case studies

4.1 Germany

This chapter starts off with observations on the welfare state provisions in place before the reforms happened. Then it explains why changes occurred and thereafter, the current state of the welfare arrangements will be discussed. In the second part, definitions and delimitations of non-standard employment contracts will be introduced and the main changes in the employment field will be analysed. Thereafter, the changing role of industrial relations and their links to atypical employment will be addressed. After the analysis of welfare state elements, the enhanced theoretical model of Streeck and Thelen will be applied so as to theoretically explain the changes in the welfare regimes. The section ends with an overall conclusion.

4.1.1 The generosity of the welfare state

German welfare state - The Bismarckian tradition

Germany is part of the Continental group of welfare-state regimes which have their political roots in Christian democracy. After World War II, a generous benefit system, financed by contributions and taxes, was developed (Jacobi and Kluve 2006: 4). Core values of the continental or conservative welfare regimes include status maintenance and the support of a traditional male breadwinner nuclear family structure (Hemerijck et al. 2013: 21; Esping-Andersen 1996: 66). Thus, traditionally, the Bismarckian system of social insurance has been closely connected to the link between employment position and/or family status and social entitlements. The core assumption was that men work full-time and that they have continuous, uninterrupted careers, which clearly shows an occupation-oriented approach as a central element of the conservative welfare state (Van Kersbergen 1995). In practice, this means that a generous welfare state has traditionally been closely connected to standard employment.

The Bismarckian Tradition in crisis

Compared to other EU countries, the main features of the German welfare state in the 1990s were high expenditure levels in combination with a long duration of programmes. Measures like training and public job creation were the most important in terms of expenditure and number of participants. Arrangements aiming at the direct integration into regular employment (e.g. wage subsidies and start-up subsidies) only played a minor role. In the same way, sanctions for low engagement in job search activities were rarely applied (Jacobi and Kluve 2006:6). However, this model worked mainly because of a low unemployment rate, which amounted to 5 per cent before the unification (Smolny 2009: 5).

During the 1990s, Germany was significantly marked by the aftershocks of unification of the German Federal Republic (FRG) and the German Democratic Republic (GDR). The Federal Government decided to adjust the wage levels in the new *Länder* to the level of the old *Länder*, despite the fact that they lagged significantly behind in terms of productivity. This suffocated sustainable growth and made the eastern part dependent on massive payment transfers from the West to the East. Thus, massive social transfers from the western to the eastern part of the country amounted to ca. 150 billion EUR per year and made the state struggle with the financial burdens of reunification (Jackson and Sorge 2012). In addition, approx. 40 per cent of the jobs that existed in Eastern Germany were destructed. As a large share of the Eastern German workforce was inadequately trained for immediate employment in an open market economy, the unemployment problem accelerated in the whole country (Knuth 2007: 1). On top of that, the ceilings for public spending introduced by the Treaty of Maastricht further worsened the outlook for an expansive macroeconomic policy (Jacobi and Kluve 2006: 3f.).

Between 1997 and 2003 German unemployment rates ranged between 9.6 per cent in the West and 18.6 per cent in the East, being among the highest in the EU. Moreover, besides the increased unemployment rate, the probability of those being unemployed to remain so for a long time (in many cases, until retirement) grew massively as well (Knuth 2007:1). In like manner, from 1991 until 2003, German GDP increased only by 18 per cent, which was half the growth of the United Kingdom (35 per cent) or the Netherlands (34 per cent) during that period (Jacobi and Kluve 2006:3; Knuth 2007: 1). In order to address massive

unemployment and sluggish economic growth, German government decided to adjust the generous system of wage replacements for the unemployed to the new reality of the united country (Knuth 2007: 2).

The response to the crisis and its consequences

In 2002 the Red-Green Coalition under the leadership of former Chancellor Gerhard Schröder initiated a series of policy changes. An expert commission was appointed (officially, the Commission for Modern Services in the Labour Market or the Hartz Commission) of representatives from trade unions, politics, business and academia headed by Peter Hartz, back then Volkswagen director for human resources. The responsibility of the Commission was to develop a plan how to decrease the unemployment rate by two million within three years through activation and more effective and rapid job placement. These ideas stemmed from the European Employment Guidelines aiming at attracting more people in employment through modernisation of social protection systems (see Jacobi and Kluve 2006). Some months later, the Hartz Commission presented a comprehensive plan with a number of proposals, many of which were later implemented in four consecutive legislative steps and are well-known as Hartz reforms (BMAS 2002). These reforms (2003-2005) indicated a remarkable shift toward activation policies, closely linked to a significant liberalisation of employment relations and self-employment (Hemerijck et al. 2013: 22; Jacobi and Kluve 2006).

Reforms on unemployment benefits and pension system

Five goals of the reforms can be distinguished: 1. Modernisation of the Federal Agency for Work (*Bundesagentur für Arbeit*), a body responsible for administering unemployment benefits, counselling and job placement services as well as implementing active labour market policies. It has been modified along the lines of New Public Management, establishing results-based accountability and controlling of the local employment agencies.

2. Introduction of some new instruments of active labour market policy as well as flexibilisation of the existing labour law: for instance, the definition of suitable work was broadened (e.g. including the obligation to move to a different city under certain circumstances) and sanctions in case of non-compliance more stringently applied. Conditions for receipt of unemployment benefits became stricter. Moreover, the establishment of start-

ups has been encouraged, also by introducing new forms of self-employment such as Mecompany (one person business/family business or *Ich-AG*). This includes a possible subsidy from the state, if the claimant's income does not exceed 25,000 EUR per year. 3. Introduction of the so-called "*Minijobs*" (a job which generates a monthly income not more than 400 EUR) and "*Midijobs*" (with a maximum amount of monthly earnings of 800 EUR), for which social security contributions from the employees' side are reduced or even exempted (Jacobi and Kluve 2006: 12). 4. **Reduction** of the maximal periods **of eligibility for contribution-based unemployment benefits.** 5. Reshaping the benefit system for the workers who exhausted their contribution-based benefit claims, by **merging unemployment assistance** and **social assistance** into one (Hartz IV).

Until the end of 2004, Germany had three types of the unemployment benefits: 1. In case of unemployment, workers were covered by the unemployment insurance. Unemployment benefits (Arbeitslosengeld) until today replaces up to 60 per cent of the previous net earnings. The maximum duration of benefit payment was reduced from 32 months to 24 months during the reforms. The benefit is now labelled unemployment benefit I (UB I or Arbeitslosengeld (ALG I)). 2. Before the reform took place, those who had exhausted their unemployment benefit entitlement or those who were not (yet) entitled to unemployment benefits were eligible for unemployment assistance (Arbeitslosenhilfe), a tax-financed, means-tested transfer of an unlimited duration. This was an extraordinary feature of the German unemployment benefit system. It replaced up to 57 per cent of prior net earnings and led to the highest replacement rates for long term unemployed among all OECD countries (OECD 2004). 3. The basic idea behind the German welfare state is that those are eligible to receive public transfers, whose own income falls short of their needs. Thus, before the Hartz reforms, individuals could claim social assistance (Sozialhilfe), if their total income fell below the legally defined subsistence level. Social assistance thus was a means-tested program that was provided also to top up labour earnings and unemployment benefits in case of need (BMAS 2002 and Riphahna and Wunder 2013: 4f.).

After the reform, unemployment assistance and social assistance were combined in the unemployment benefit II (UB II or *Arbeitslosengeld II (ALGII)*), a means-tested and tax-financed benefit. Individuals who become unemployed receive UB I and after the exhaustion of their UB I eligibility, can apply for the UB II. The benefit covers the legally defined

minimum income and is not related to prior earnings. Individuals in need can claim UB II, if they are able to work at least 15 hours per week. Those who are not able to work (e.g., due to sickness or disability) remained eligible to social assistance (BMAS 2002; Riphahna and Wunder 2013: 4f.). These benefit adjustments combined with a reinforced conditionality, meaning the duty for the employee to actively search for and accept less suitable job offers than before, drew inspiration from New Labour in the UK. It also encompasses the deregulation of atypical employment relations (Hemerijck et al. 2013: 21). The milestone for this flexibilisation was the "Act on Part-time and Temporary Employment" ("Teilzeit-und Befristungsgesetzt"), which has been implemented in 2004. It allowed fixed-term contracts not only if there are objective reasons (such as time-limited funding for a project or a contract) but independent of any justification, for a period of up to two years or even up to four years in a newly established enterprise. Before 2004, the use of temporary employment was much more restricted (Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 6).

In summary, following the new principle of "supporting and demanding" (*Fördern und Fordern*) the main objective of the so-called Hartz IV reform was to increase in both employment prospects and work incentives for benefits recipients, in order to reduce the number of individuals dependent on social welfare (Wunsch 2006: 12).

Reforms on pension system

In 2007, the grand coalition of the Social democrats and Conservatives agreed to increase the retirement age to 67 by 2029 as a response to population aging. Another key change in the pension system was the introduction of the so-called *Riester* pension in 2001 (named after the former Minister of Labour and Social Affairs). Before that the statutory pension system encompassed the largest share of participants and the highest benefit expenditure. The focus on the statutory system is based on the constitutional principle of social justice, aiming at maintaining the obtained standard of living for the old population (see Ante 2008; Borsch-Supan and Wilke 2003). The replacement rate was about 70 per cent at the end of the 1990s (Börsch-Supan et al. 2012). Another important specificity of the German pension system was a high dependence on the individual employment record with a strong connection between contributions and entitlements at the end of the working life. This model was mainly concentrating on the male breadwinner, working 40 hours a week without significant interruptions (Ante 2008).

The *Riester* reform introduced a new pillar in the pension system, aiming at voluntary private contribution. Through this pillar, private old-age provisions were enacted, reducing the state contributions to pension from above 70 per cent to around 67-68 per cent by the year 2030 (Interviewee C; see also Bäcker and Kistler 2014; Borsch-Supan and Wilke 2003). Although the *Riester* pension was intended to be a voluntary instrument, its aim was to address the "pension gap". This gap has been generated by incrementally reducing the generosity of the public pay-as-you-go pensions, especially in response to an aging population (Interviewee C; see also Börsch-Supan et al. 2012).

The effects of the reforms

These changes have had far reaching effects on the functioning of the German employment market. The published evaluations of the Hartz reforms for the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (BMAS)) conclude that they had a significant impact on the labour market, primarily through better matching of labour supply and demand as well as greater incentives to work (Brenke at al. 2006; Trésor-Economics 2013). Indeed, the employment situation improved considerably. Germany's unemployment rate fell from almost 11 per cent in 2005 to 7.5 per cent in 2008, reaching 6.2 per cent at the end of 2014 (Statista 2015c). Moreover, "[w]elfare state reforms reduced both taxes and expenditures from around 48 per cent to 43 per cent of GDP between 1999 and 2009. For instance, spending on labour market policy fell from ca. 4 per cent of GDP during the unification era to just 2 per cent in 2009" (Jackson and Sorge 2012: 1152).

Although the unemployment rate has been improved, this success must be weighed against some downsides of the reforms. According to the study published by the Federal Statistical Office, Germany had 41.5 million people employed in 2012, the highest number in its history. However, the total working volume was at 1991 levels. This development has mainly been caused by the fact that since the Hartz reforms took place there has been a significant increase in **atypical employment**, i.a. in part time work. Consequentially, it was above all the low-wage segment⁵ that expanded between 1995 and 2010 by more than 22 per cent or 6.6 million employees (Dribbisch and Birke 2012: 9).

_

⁵ Defined as less than 66 per cent of the median income.

Furthermore, the poverty rate⁶ increased significantly between 2000 and 2005, from 12.5 to 14.7 per cent and has continued to increase. In 2010, already more than 15 per cent of Germans were affected by poverty (inequalitywatch 2012). This is at least partly attributable to structural effects, in that the Hartz reforms put people to work in temporary or part-time jobs, which does not allow them to cross the poverty line (Trésor-Economics 2013). Through the introduction of *Riester* pension, the poverty rate is likely to increase even further (inequalitywatch 2012).

To sum up, the reforms indicate a shift in the liberal direction. First of all, the conditions for unemployment benefits have tightened, since it is required to contribute 12 months out of the last 2 years instead of the last 3 years, as it was before the reforms were introduced. Another important change occurred in terms of the duration. It has been shorted to 1 year (or 2 years for persons above 58). The amount of unemployment benefits has been reduced from 67 per cent of the reference wage⁷ to 60 per cent. However, the nature of the unemployment benefits, namely the non-means-tested character and the generous entitlements remained in place.

Another important change was the merger of the unemployment assistance and the social assistance into the social assistance or UB II. The main amendments were the introduction of sanctioning mechanisms, forcing the beneficiaries to actively search for a new job even if this entails worse employment conditions than in the previous one. Passivity became an undesirable behaviour, which has to be punished. This logic has strong similarities with the liberal welfare model, which relies on self-responsible individuals. Another key adjustment was the reduction of benefits, making them flat-rate and strictly means-tested. These reforms clearly indicate that the purpose of receiving Hartz IV is to survive during the transition period from being unemployed to finding a new job instead of maintaining the unemployment status for a longer period before an appropriate job can be found. The pension system became less generous as well. Through the introduction of *Riester* pension, Germany made a step toward private pension schemes coming closer to the liberal welfare state.

-

⁶ A person having less than 980 EUR per month is considered to live under the poverty line (inequalitywatch 2012).

⁷ The reference wage is usually the last wage a person receives before she or he becomes unemployed.

Forms of change in the new welfare provisions in Germany

Table 4 Core principles of German social provisions before and after the reforms

	Germany (prior to reforms)	Germany (today)	
Unemployment benefits	Non-means-tested	Non-means-tested	
Conditions	12 months contributions during	12 months contributions	
	the last 3 years	during the last 2 years	
Duration	Max. 32 months	Max. 1 year for under 58	
Amount	Up to 67% of reference wage	60% of reference wage	
		average: 775 EUR monthly	
Sanctions	Non	Non	
Pattern of change	Laye	ring	
Unemployment Assistance	Means-tested Means-tested		
Conditions	Exhaustion or non-eligibility to	Exhaustion or non-eligibility to	
	the unemployment benefits	the unemployment benefits	
Duration	Unlimited duration	Unlimited duration	
Amount	Up to 57% of prior earnings	A low flat-rate benefit	
Sanctions	Practically non	Reduction of Hartz IV if not	
		active in job seeking	
Pattern of change	Layering and	Conversion	
Pension schemes	Pay-as-you-go; pension	Pay-as-you-go; level ca. 68%;	
	level: more than 70%;	introduction: Riester pension;	
	Aim: to guarantee living	Aim: mixture of guaranteeing	
	standards	living standards and poverty	
		avoidance	
Pattern of change	Layering		

(Sources: own completion based on Esping-Andersen 1990 and 1996; Hall and Soskice 2001; Hemerijck et al. 2013; MISSOC 2014;).

How can this be read applying the patterns of change under the theoretical lenses of Streeck and Thelen? As Table 4 above shows, two types of changes can be observed.

(1) In the case of the unemployment benefits is layering which means that new rules were created to foster changes without directly seeking to abolish existing practices. More concrete, the non-means-tested nature of the social provisions remained stable, while the duration as well as the conditions were tightened. Thus old rules were not neglected, which speaks against exhaustion. Drift is also not suitable, since old rules remained intact and the politicians evidently reacted to a changing environment. Because some new practices were introduced, conversion as a pattern of change is not applicable either.

- (2) In the case of the social assistance provisions, a new system of sanctions was created, while the means-tested character did not change, which speaks for layering. Similar to the unemployment benefits, old rules were not neglected but they are still intact, which speaks against exhaustion. Drift did not occur either, since the government actively reacted to the emerging challenges. Displacement is not suitable either, since old practices are still valid. Because some new rules were introduced, criteria for conversion are not fulfilled. Lastly, no introduction of new rules or change of old practices aiming at extending generosity of social provisions can be observed, thus revitalisation is not applicable either. This new system disadvantages mainly long-term unemployed, who, after one year of being unsuccessful in finding a new job, have to rely on social assistance, which became less generous and more restrictive than prior to the reforms.
- (3) Layering can also be observed in the pension schemes, where a new element of *Riester* pension was introduced, while old instructions remained in place. The same applies for this case: existing practices were not neglected because the public pension scheme is still working, which speaks against exhaustion. Because of the active government, drift did not happen either. Displacement is not suitable either, since old rules are still applicable. *Riester* pension was newly introduced, ruling out conversion as a pattern of change. Moreover, no introduction of new rules or change of old rules aiming at improving social protection in old age can be observed, thus revitalisation did not occur either. Till now, it is difficult to judge how it will affect the aging population as a whole, since the reform will show its impact only after 2030. However already today, we can see that it will disadvantage people in irregular employment since the German pension system is built around a person working full-time without significant interruptions. With the decrease of replacement rate from more than 70 per cent to 67-68 per cent, especially people under atypical employment will be forced to rely on private savings in order to reach the minimum income level for the retirement period.
- **(4)** Another pattern of change which derives from the observations above is **conversion**, meaning the changed enactment of existing rules due to their strategic redirection. More concretely, it means that the **UB II** or the **unemployment assistance** that initially followed the aim to support unemployed people during their active search for a job, have been partly redirected. Linked to the flexibilisation of labour conditions through which atypical types of

employment either emerged or were extended, the low-wage segment expanded as well. This led to a considerable increase in working poor who needed to rely on income subsidies (Dribbisch and Birke 2012: 9). Thus, despite the fact that ca. half of the beneficiaries are unemployed people, a new purpose of Hartz IV emerged as well, namely to support workers whose earnings are not sufficient to cover their life expenses (O-Ton Arbeitsmarkt 2014). In this particular case, layering would not apply, because no new official rules for working poor were introduced. Displacement would not be suitable either since the old system of unemployment benefits was not replaced by a new one. Exhaustion is obviously not applicable either, since there was no negligence of old practices. Additionally, no introduction of new rules or change of old rules aiming at extending social protection can be observed, thus revitalisation did not happen either.

Due to the increasing importance of atypical employment, the next section of the paper will deal with this concept and its developments in the last years.

4.1.2 The extent of non-standard employment

Standard and Atypical Employment in Germany: Definitions and delimitations

In the existing literature, atypical (or non-standard) employment is usually defined in contrast to the so-called standard employment model. The concept includes rather heterogeneous substantive forms which require further clarification (Mückenberger 2007). Despite the lack of a broadly accepted definition, labour market scholars often regard the following characteristics as constituting the standard employment relationship:

- full-time employment with an income sufficient to enable independent subsistence,
- permanent employment contract,
- complete integration into the social security systems (particularly unemployment, health and pension insurance),
- work relationship and employment relationship are identical,
- employees are subject to the direction by the employer (Dostall et al. 1998; Duell and Duell 2002: 9; Keller and Seifert 2013: 458).

Atypical employment deviates from standard employment in terms of at least one of the indicated criteria:

- Part-time employment (Teilzeitarbeit), the most common form, is characterised by less regular weekly working hours than collective agreements define for standard employment (about 35 to 40 hours); pay is proportionally reduced.
- Marginal employment (geringfügige Beschäftigung) represents a specific German version of part-time employment that was extended in 2003/2004 by the Hartz laws.
 Monthly earnings resulting from these so-called "mini-jobs" have to remain below the threshold of 400 EUR.
- The Hartz laws also introduced so-called "midi-jobs", another German peculiarity, whose monthly remuneration limits are between 401 and 800 EUR.
- Fixed-term (or temporary) employment (befristete Beschäftigung) means that the
 contract automatically ends after an indicated period; existing legal provisions of
 dismissal protection do not apply.
- Agency work (Leih- or Zeitarbeit) differs from all other forms because of its tripartite
 relationship between the employee, the agency and the company hiring the
 employee. This peculiarity causes the important triangular link between the
 employment relationship (between the agency and the employee) and the work
 relationship (between the company as a client and the employee).
- Self-employment (Selbstständigkeit) can also be considered as a form of atypical employment. It has long-term consequences for social security systems, especially the sub-group without employees, the so-called solo-self-employment (Keller and Seifert 2013: 459).

Moreover, numerous empirical surveys show that all forms of atypical employment bear a higher risk of precariousness⁸, since the wage gap between standard and atypical employment increases the risk of poverty during and after working life. Here, further differentiations are needed: people employed in part-time work have the lowest risk of

⁸ Keller and Seifert (2013) use four indicators to analyse the risk of precariousness: a wage that is less than twothirds of the median hourly wage; a lack of employment stability (a lack of the opportunity of continuous employment); low employability (the absence of the life-long ability of an individual to find and maintain employment); low level of integration into the different branches of the social system (pension, health and unemployment insurance) with special emphasis on the pension system.

precariousness, whereas employees carrying out fixed-term and agency work face the highest risk of poverty (Duell and Duell 2002; Keller and Seifert 2013: 464; Standing 2011).

The changing patterns in the work relationship in Germany

Closely connected with the Hartz reforms and with the decreasing influence of the trade unions since the 1990s (which will be addressed below), the German employment model also started to face various changes. Already since the 1990s, part-time employment increased steadily and it became the most widespread form of atypical employment. In 2013, more than 25 per cent of all employees worked part-time, which exceeds the EU average. This phenomenon is also closely related to the growing participation of women in the labour market, who account for more than 80 per cent of all part-time employees. (Brenke 2011: 15). About 20 per cent of part-time employees stated that they work part-time involuntarily (Statistisches Bundesamt 2013).

Furthermore, in 2013, more than 7.3 million employees work in so-called mini-jobs. When the Hartz Law was introduced in 2003, this category increased from 17 to 20 per cent of all part-time employees between 2003 and 2004. Since 2004, the number has remained more or less stable. However, further distinctions have to be introduced, since the mini-job can be the sole job or an additional one. The first form is dominant among the mini-job category (70 per cent), which makes it quite problematic with regard to the social policy regulation and also because approx. one third of the people employed in mini-jobs would prefer working more hours (see: Brenke 2011; Keller and Seifert 2013: 460).

Fixed-term employment has also increased by ca. 10 per cent in comparison to the early 1990s (in average, almost 50 per cent of all new employment contracts are fixed-termed). Agency work accounts for only 2 per cent of all atypical forms (although the numbers are quite modest compared to the UK and the Netherlands, it has doubled since the introduction of the Hartz Laws). Solo self-employment (among which bogus self-employment *Scheinselbständigkeit* is widespread) has increased from 4 to 7 per cent of the total workforce. Especially the construction sector saw the amount of solo-self-employed doubled within 10 years 66,000 in 1998 to 129,000 in 2009. (Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 14). Some evidence shows that dependent employees have been partly replaced by solo-self-employed

workers to circumvent higher employment costs prescribed by collective agreements (Ibid.), both in the construction sector and in the business-related services.

Additionally, ca. 4 per cent of all employees receive wage subsidies due to their low incomes. The majority of them are carrying out mini-jobs (Keller and Seifert 2013: 461 and 465). To illustrate the findings above, in 2012, for instance, every fifths employee (22 per cent) has been performing atypical work - especially women (33 per cent), young people between 15 and 24 years (33 per cent) as well as people without any vocational qualification (37 per cent) (Statistisches Bundesamt 2013⁹).

To sum up, atypical employment has grown to more than one-third of the entire workforce since the early 1990s when only ca. 20 per cent were in atypical employment relationships. This high proportion points to the fact that atypical employment cannot be considered applying only to a minor segment of the aggregated labour force anymore but it constitutes an increasingly frequent common "exception" (Keller and Seifert 2013: 461). Moreover, it is important to indicate that the decreasing unemployment rate between 2005 and 2008 was predominantly due to an increase in atypical forms of employment contracts through the Hartz reforms (Statistisches Bundesamt 2008). Because of these trends, the proportion of unemployment insurance recipients in comparison to unemployment assistance recipients decreased between 1999 and 2015. For instance, in 2004, 47 per cent of all those eligible for benefits received unemployment insurance and 53 per cent Hartz IV (Leschke 2006). In 2015, ca. 0.92 million received unemployment benefits, while around 4.5 million had to rely on Hart IV (Statista 2015a,b). From those 4.5 million recipients, only 2 million were unemployed (Bundesagentur für Arbeit 2014: 24; O-Ton Arbeitsmarkt 2014). The rest were carrying out atypical work, belonging to the so-called Aufstocker¹⁰. This shows that firstly only a small proportion of persons are eligible to the non-means-tested unemployment benefits. Secondly, the majority of persons receiving unemployment benefits II are actually in employment.

Table 5 Development of atypical employment in Germany 1991-2013

⁹ For a detailed overview of the developments in the atypical employment relations from 1991 till 2013 see Statistisches Bundesamt 2013: Table 5.

¹⁰ Aufstocker literally means people who work poor and receive top-up benefit (own translation).

Year	Self-	Temporary	Part-time	Marginal	Agency work	All
	employed	(% of all	(% of all	employment	(% of all	atypical
	(% of all	employees)	employees)	(% all	employees)	(%)
	workers)			employees)		
1991	9.7%	5.0%	14.0%	n.a.	0.4%	20%
1992	10.05%	7.8%	14.3%	n.a.	0.4%	n.a.
1997/9	10.8%	8.1%	17.7%	11.3	0.7%	n.a.
2000	10.9%	8.8%	19.8%	12.4%	1.0%	27%
2005	12.4%	10.1%	24.5%	14.8%	1.4%	34%
2013	11.2%	13.4%	22.4%	15.0%	2.3%	37%

(Source: own completion based on: Keller and Seifert 2013; OECD 2015b; Seifert 2010).

Forms of change in atypical employment in Germany

How can the patterns of change in employment relationships be interpreted by the theoretical model of Thelen and Streek? In the present case, we clearly face a differentiation of the labour market, since the majority of the labour market participants still work in standard employment relationships, while an increasing amount of people, namely about 37 per cent of all employed persons, works under atypical conditions.

(1) Looking through the lenses of Streeck and Thelen, layering as a pattern of change would come closest to explain the new reality in employment relationships. It means that the old system of traditional contracts in which a person (usually a man) works full-time, has an unlimited contract and does not have significant interruptions during his working life time, was not abolished. However, through the reforms but also through the demographical changes and especially the increased number of women participating in the labour market, once marginal elements of the German welfare model became far more important. Additionally, some new elements were added as well. All of them are covered under the realm of non-standard contracts. Therefore, standard and non-standard employments coexist and together constitute a new reality on the German labour market.

Why are other patterns of change not suitable? Drift did not occur, since the condition of passive government is not fulfilled. Displacement does not apply because the condition of removing old rules is missing. Conversion does not suit, since there is no enactment of old practices as in the case of the Hartz IV reforms. Old rules were not neglected either, since the majority of workers enjoy strong labour rights, which speaks against exhaustion. Last but not least, there was no introduction of new rules and change in old practices aiming at strengthening workers' rights, thus revitalisation did not occur either.

Table 6 Atypical employment and conditions for access to social provisions before and after the reforms

Atypical employment Between 20% and 27% (1991- 37% Conditions for access to social provisions relevant for atypically employed workers Hours or wage threshold at 15 hours Minimum UB: 12 months of contributions during last 3 years; UA: 150 days of contribution Part-time workers: no Hours or wage threshold of 322 EUR; UB: 12 months of contributions during last 2 years; UB: 12 months of contribution period Part-time workers: no Retween 20% and 27% (1991- 37% (1991
Conditions for access to social provisions relevant for atypically employed workers Hours or wage threshold of 322 EUR; threshold at 15 hours Minimum UB: 12 months of contributions during last 3 years; UA: 150 days of contribution UB: 12 months of contribution period Part-time workers: no Part-time worker
Conditions for access to social provisions relevant for atypically employed workers Hours or wage threshold of 322 EUR; threshold at 15 hours Minimum UB: 12 months of contributions during last 3 years; UA: 150 days of contribution UB: 12 months of contribution uring last 2 years; UB: 150 days of contribution UB: 10 contribution requirement uring last 2 years; OB: 11 no contribution requirement uring last 2 years; OB: 12 months of contribution requirement uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 2 years; OB: 150 days of contribution uring last 3 year
Hours or wage threshold of 322 EUR; threshold at 15 hours Minimum UB: 12 months of contributions during last 3 years; UA: 150 days of contribution Part-time workers: no Earnings threshold of 400 EUR UB: 12 months of contributions during last 2 years; UB: 11 mo contribution requirement Part-time workers: no Part-time workers: no disadvantage
thresholdthreshold at 15 hoursMinimumUB: 12 months of contributionsUB: 12 months of contributionscontribution periodduring last 3 years;during last 2 years;UA: 150 days of contributionUB II: no contribution requirementPart-time workers: noPart-time workers: no disadvantage
thresholdthreshold at 15 hoursMinimumUB: 12 months of contributionsUB: 12 months of contributionscontribution periodduring last 3 years;during last 2 years;UA: 150 days of contributionUB II: no contribution requirementPart-time workers: noPart-time workers: no disadvantage
Minimum contribution period UB: 12 months of contributions during last 3 years; UA: 150 days of contribution Part-time workers: no UB: 12 months of contributions during last 2 years; UB II: no contribution requirement Part-time workers: no disadvantage
contribution periodduring last 3 years;during last 2 years;UA: 150 days of contributionUB II: no contribution requirementPart-time workers: noPart-time workers: no disadvantage
contribution periodduring last 3 years;during last 2 years;UA: 150 days of contributionUB II: no contribution requirementPart-time workers: noPart-time workers: no disadvantage
UA: 150 days of contribution Part-time workers: no UB II: no contribution requirement Part-time workers: no disadvantage
Part-time workers: no Part-time workers: no disadvantage
disadvantage <u>Temporary workers:</u> abolishment of
<u>Temporary workers:</u> no unemployment assistance;
disadvantage shortening of reference period -
problematic
Dependence on Unemployment benefits: yes: 67% Unemployment benefits: yes: 60%
former wage level Unemployment assistance: 57% Unemployment benefits II: no, low
(only applies to part- Part-time workers: special rules flat-rate basic benefit
time workers) for those who change from full Part-time workers: special rules for
time to part-time those who change from full time to
UB: yes, 12 months of part-time
contributions = 6 months of UB: yes, 12 months of contributions
Dependence on benefits (max. 32 months) = 6 months of benefits (max. 12
former contribution months; 18 for people above 58);
time Social assistance: no
Temporary workers: disadvantaged
if short contract duration

Pattern of change	Layering
-------------------	----------

(Sources: own completion based on Keller and Seifert 2013; Leschke 2006: 132).

4.1.3 Industrial relations

The traditional role of trade unions and collective bargaining

This part aims at introducing the traditional role of trade unions and collective bargaining in Germany and its development. It also applies the enhanced theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen to describe changes.

For most of the 1960s-80s, Germany was regarded as one of the countries being successful in combining economic growth and social equality (Lehndorff et al. 2009: 105). Traditionally, secure (equated with standard) employment has been a major institutional feature that reflected the strength of labour in the post-war period. Collective bargaining has been seen as a driving force in the development and definition of standard employment relationships (Haipeter 2013: 115). A high level of dismissal protection has been another key instrument of the decommodification of labour and a clear orientation to the single male breadwinner model, typical for a conservative welfare state model (see Jackson and Sorge 2012; Lehndorff et al. 2009). Some authors characterise the German system by virtue of the "beneficial constraints" (Streeck 1997) imposed on German capital by strong labour unions and institutions, fostering long-term strategies, both for employees' and employers' organisations.

The German system of collective bargaining was shaped in the 1950s and 1960s and can be characterised by two distinguished features: 1. a rather stable system of industry-level collective bargaining by trade unions and employer' associations (with around 80 per cent of employees being covered by collective bargaining agreements), with a relative lower density of unions' members (around 36 per cent in the late 70s) and a dominant German Trade Union Federation (*Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund*, *DGB*). The low density of union's members can be explained, as Germany's Constitution (*Grundgesetz*) guarantees freedom of association, which means for workers the right to organise in trade unions. At the same time

this also implies that TU membership is not obligatory and nobody can be forced to join (Dribbusch and Birke 2012:2).

Because of the dominance of the DGB, unions were able to conclude centralised agreements with employers' associations even despite a low membership density. The DGB consists of eight affiliated trade unions, with around 6.2 million members at the end of 2011 and it represents the general interests of its individual trade unions with regard to political decision-makers and associations at federal, *Länder* and local government level. The DGB as a confederation is financed by the individual TU and workers are not members of the DGB, but of its affiliated TU, to which they pay their membership fees (ibid.). The individual DGB TU are: Metalworker's Union, United Services Union, Trade Union for the police etc. Additionally, there are two other important TU confederations: German Civil Service Federation (*Beamtenbund und Tarifunion, DBB*) and the German Christian Trade Union Federation (*Christlicher Gewerkschaftsbund Deutschlands, CGB*).

2. The second characteristic of the German employment model has been codetermination by works councils, which are workers' representative bodies that enjoy legally defined rights of codetermination (along with consultation and information) that are formally independent of the TU (Haipeter 2013: 117). However, in practice, both bodies have worked closely together, with the majority of works council representatives being members of the TU. The works councils have carried out important functions such as recruiting union members and controlling the implementation of collective bargaining, whereas the TU have supported the works councils by providing them with consulting and training services (ibid.).

The industrial relations in flux

As it has been already noted, the historic turning point when the German model started to face problems were the years 1989/1990.

Alongside unification, other factors contributed to the faltering of the German model, which i.a. led to strong criticism of the trade unions and their positions. As a case in point, the German model has often been criticised for its high wage level. The effects of globalisation accelerated global competition: countries such as Japan could combine high quality production with significantly lower costs, which made the country more attractive for investors than Germany (Jacobi and Kluve 2006: 3). Additionally, the opening of Central and

Eastern European countries constituted a unique opportunity for German industry to relocate production abroad (Interviewee B; Dustmann et al. 2014: 182). Due to their stable investment climate, low labour costs and geographical proximity, the CEE countries became attractive for German investors. Although the process of moving the production to Central and Eastern Europe has taken place quite slowly and moderately (the German FDI to the CEE amounted to 2.3 per cent in 2010) (Dustmann et al. 2014: 182), the International exit options made it quite easy for employers to put pressure on both workers councils and unions (Haipeter 2013: 119). All in all, employers were willing to increase their competitiveness by reducing costs, were less eager to accept collective bargaining agreements and started to reject the former logic of wage increases based on advances in productivity (ibid.).

Hence, Germany came under pressure to decrease the cost of production, too. Thus, during the 1990's, Germany was often described as the "sick man of Europe", in particular for allegedly driving up labour costs and therefore impeding employment growth in the services sector, especially in the low-wage sectors (Lehndorff et al. 2009: 105).

In the course of reunification, the new *Bundesländer* predominantly had to embrace West German institutions, since there was no interest to transfer any GDR practices to the FRG (Vail 2010: 67). The extension of social protection to Eastern Germany, the creation of industrial-relations institutions, the adaptation of Western institutions of social partnership, state aid for restructuring and infrastructure improvements, support for private investment and the privatisation of the Eastern Economy have to be addressed in order to adjust the new *Länder* to the Social Market Economy of West Germany (ibid.: 74-75). Public support as well as the government's activism to adjust the new *Länder* to Western standards led to a relatively smooth transformation. However, collective bargaining could not take roots in the East German *Länder* (Ritter 2006). Thus, the key feature of German corporatism and coordinated capitalism was absent in East Germany (Lehndorff et al. 2009: 113).

All in all, around 2000, the German export machine regained its momentum and the unemployment rates started to decrease in 2006, marking a revitalisation of the German economy (Dustmann et al. 2014). The regain of economic power was i.a. achieved through the liberalisation of the national economy, a process similar to many other Western countries. The voices of liberalisation were strengthened by the European Union, in order to

fulfil the Maastricht criteria and to comply with the European Central Bank policy¹¹ (Lehndorff et al. 2009: 113). However, even though the voices promoting neoliberalism began to become strong earlier, the German economy started to deregulate only after the unification, seeing it as the only way to overcome the crisis (ibid.: 111).

The new reality

The achievement in the economic performances left traces on the trade unions. Their membership decreased significantly, as did their influence. Trade union density fell from ca. 29 per cent in 1995 to approx. 20 per cent in 2004 (Keller and Seifert 2013: 460; OECD 2015b;). At the end of 2013 only 17.7 per cent of employees were members of trade unions meaning that just less than one out of five employees were members of a TU. There are many explanations for this tendency. When the majority of East Germany's trade union confederation, the Free German Trade Union Confederation (Freier Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund, FDGB) joined DGB trade unions in 1990 and 1991, the DGB's total membership increased. Shortly thereafter, however, during the restructuring and deindustrialisation of East Germany's economy, membership declined again. In the same fashion, many jobs in Western Germany in well-organised sectors of industry were lost due to rationalisation, restructuring and relocation. Privatisation of the railways and the post together with the workforce cuts in large former state-owned firms negatively influenced the membership as well. Likewise, immense outsourcing practices in the construction industry put the trade unions in a challenging position. In addition, the DGB failed to attract new members in private service companies (Dribusch and Birke 2012: 3f.).

A decreasing influence of trade unions is also connected with forms of atypical employment being on the rise since the early 1990s, albeit at different paces (ibid.). As a result of the growing deviation from collective bargaining norms, both because of the increased non-union sector (the collective bargaining sector covered about 80 per cent in the mid-80s and decreased to 65 per cent in West Germany in 2009 and to 54 per cent in East Germany) and the unwillingness of some companies to comply with the collective bargaining norms, Germany became the only country in the EU in which real wages fell from 1995 onward. Following these changes, TU lost much of their previous status and started to agree to

-

¹¹ For Germany, a prominent memorandum written by the former Minister for Economic Affairs played an important role in rethinking its policy (Lambsdorff 1982).

accept the decentralisation of collective bargaining in the form of derogation clauses and increasingly confining themselves to defending existing labour standards (Interviewee B; Haipeter 2013: 119; Lehndorff et al. 2009: 121).

Another important factor for a declining trade union density was that collective agreements apply to all employees of a company that fall under the scope of the agreement, independent of whether they are union members or not. Hence, there is a lack of incentives for employees to sign up for a trade union membership. Even members started to doubt the benefit of being a member. This had negative repercussions for the unions' negotiation position with the employers (Interviewee A) and led to less protection of workers and declining standards in the employment relationship as the Interviewees A and B mentioned (see also Dribusch and Birke 2012).

To sum up, it is to say that since the mid-1990s, the composition of the labour force changed significantly. These changes are closely connected with a decline in the TU membership and in the coverage of collective agreements which has been accompanied by increased concessions to the employers and the rise of atypical employment in the whole country (Dribusch and Birke 2012: 13).

Forms of change in industrial relations in Germany

What can be inferred from the theoretical model of Streeck and Thelen about the changes in the industrial relations in Germany? In the present case, we obviously face two parallel tendencies: the declining membership of the trade unions and the declining coverage in collective bargaining system. Similar to the two previous cases, there is a differentiation between the core workers who are still covered under the collective agreements and workers who have to negotiate their working conditions on their own. However, in this case layering would not be an appropriate pattern of change. In the GDR, the system of trade unions existed as well. However, the membership was compulsory for all workers and the Free German Trade Union Federation, the only TU in the GDR, was seen as the right arm of the state apparatus and not as the protector of workers' rights (Interviewee B). Thus, after the unification, many people cancelled their membership immediately, seeing the TU as a burden instead of an ally. These developments can be seen until today, where the density of trade unions and collective bargaining is higher in West Germany than in the Eastern *Länder*.

(1) Thus, partial exhaustion can best describe what has occurred in the field of industrial relations. The old system of collective bargaining was not abolished which speaks against displacement. But it was decisively weakened and individual bargaining started to play a much more significant role than it used to be in the 1990s. As it was the case in the previous two parts non-organised workers in atypical employment relations do not have a strong protection form the TU's side. Table 7 below summarises the development of union density and collective bargaining in Germany over the last decades.

Exhaustion occurred only partly because there is a significant difference between the old and the new *Länder*. However, it must be stressed that the implementation of old institutions in the new Länder is a special case, which is not perfectly captured by the theoretical model of Streck and Thelen, since in the case of exhaustion, the old rules are supposed to be neglected. For the GDR, everything was new, since everything had to be built from the scratch after the unification. Thus, the rules of Western Germany were partly neglected in the East or the acceptance of the old rules was much weaker in East Germany than it was in the Western part. Hence, despite some limitations, we can call it partial exhaustion.

Table 7 Development of union density and collective bargaining in Germany

Year	Union	Union	Union	Collective	Collective	Collective
	density	density	density	Bargaining -	Bargaining –	Bargaining
	(whole	(West	(East	workers in %	workers in %	– workers
	Germany)	Germany)	Germany)	(whole	(West Germany)	in % (East
				Germany)		Germany)
1979	35.3%	35.3%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
1987	33.3%	30.0%	n.a.	ca. 80%	ca. 80%	n.a.
1997	27.00%	26.3%	25.7%	n.a.	76%	63%
2007/	19.9%	21.2%	17.8%	61%	65%	54%
9						
2013	17.7%	n.a.	n.a.	55%	60%	47%

(Source: own completion based on: Biebeler and Lesch 2006:4-5; DGB Einblick 2014; OECD 2015a).

Why would other patterns of change be inappropriate? Layering is not applicable since no new rules were introduced. Drift is not suitable due to the lack of changed impact of old rules because of the inactive government. Conversion would not fit, since there is no case of enactment of old practices and obviously, there is no case of revitalisation, since the situation has rather worsened than improved for the system of collective bargaining.

4.1.4 Overall conclusions on the developments in the German welfare state

The traditional German welfare state with its core feature of employment related status maintenance started to totter during social-economic tensions caused by the oil crises. The turning point was the reunification, challenging the existing model of the welfare state even further. This event triggered a series of adaptive reactions.

However, the paradigm shift happened neither immediately nor entirely. The German model was extended by a new reality only after some years of struggle and a change of government. Why was the German government not more radical in pursuing liberalisation? One of the key factors was probably the consensus-seeking nature of German electoral politics and decentralisation of power through the system of federalism. All these characteristics oppose radical shift driven by top-down policies. In particular, the majority in Bundestag was often not the same as the majority at the *Länder* level in Bundesrat, due to different election period in all 16 *Bundesländer*. Through the "veto points" in Bundesrat the radical liberalisation of German social state became de-facto impossible (see also Jackson and Sorge 2012: 1155).

Thus, through a number of labour market reforms, the German welfare state has only gradually changed its paradigm from the traditional corporatist regime, which protects with a relatively high level of decommodification or status maintenance to the paradigm of citizens actively searching for a job. Being passive started to imply a negative connotation, meaning that a passive citizen exploits the state and free rides on her or his fellow citizens. As the former Chancellor from the Social-Democrat party, Gerhard Schröder, declared in the beginning of the 2000s: "Whoever is able to work but refuses an appropriate job should

have his support cut. There is no right to laziness in our society!" (quoted from Vail 2010: 106). Thus, the German state modified its traditional Bismarckian welfare model, by taking successive and decisive legislative actions. Key characteristics, however, remained intact.

There were incremental changes that transformed the German welfare state. The weakening of the TU was a long process, rather than a sudden breakdown. Moreover, it has also occurred indirectly, since there was no law passed explicitly aiming at weakening the system of collective bargaining but the increased atypical employment relationships had a direct impact on the changing role of the trade unions.

Thus, in all three domains of the welfare state, a direction towards greater liberalisation and flexibilisation can be observed. The generosity of the social provisions decreased after the Hartz reforms were implemented, the labour law has been flexibilised and collective bargaining together with the role of the trade unions has lost its power. Still, some core elements of the conservative model were preserved as well: the welfare state remained by far more generous as it is the case in an ideal-typical liberal model. The unemployment benefits are non-means-tested and the duration of the social programmes is relative long. The major share of pension is still provided by the state. The core labour force is still employed under typical contracts and enjoys a strong protection form collective bargaining and trade unions. These trends catered in-and outsiders alike. Table 8 summarises the main theoretical findings.

Table 8 Germany: types of institutional change: processes and outcomes

Core Elements of Welfare State	Patterns of change		
Access to social provisions for all types of workers	Layering and Conversion		
Extent of atypical employment contracts	Layering		
Density of trade unions and system of collective bargaining	Partial Exhaustion		

(Sources: own completion based on Busch et al. 2009; Streeck and Thelen 2005).

In terms of the theoretical model this means that we observe layering as the most common pattern of change. Moreover, we see conversion and partial exhaustion as well. This should

not surprise us. As the theory of Streeck and Thelen suggests, incremental changes are unlikely to modify all core elements of the entire welfare state model. However, they are likely to lead to a significant shift. As the German case has shown, the gradual changes were not capable of entirely transforming or abolishing individual elements which could have led to displacement or full exhaustion. It shows that path-dependency is quite strong and that institutions which were created long time ago and have been existing for many decades are not easy to overcome. However, the implementation of new rules does not seem to be as difficult either. The case of differentiation of the welfare state elements preserves the old practices to which people developed trust but it also enforces new rules. In the case of Germany, this led to divisions in society. One group benefits from old rules, which are associated with better protection and greater generosity, while another group has to rely on less generous provisions and less protection. Trends that we could observe above do not encompass the revitalisation of elements of the old conservative system. They rather point to the deepening of processes of layering, conversion or partial exhaustion.

These changes are typical not primarily for a conservative model but probably mainly for democracies seeking to reach broad consensus among different parties. Political regimes with many veto points and federal systems like Belgium or Switzerland are very likely to face similar changes. On the contrary, countries with majoritarian regimes such as the UK are more likely to change the system in a more radical way and thus a pattern such as displacement can emerge.

4.2 United Kingdom

This section deals with the welfare state reforms enacted mainly during the Thatcher and Major period. However, in case the successors of Thatcher deviated from her path and introduced contradictory reforms, they will be addressed as well. The next section analyses the key changes in the generosity of the welfare state, first in a broader sense, then connected to the unemployment benefits and pension schemes. After the analysis, the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen will be applied to explain the patterns of change. Afterwards, the extent in atypical employment will be addressed and the possible explanations of how the employment relationships have changed over the last decades. Thereafter, the role of trade unions will be discussed and the main changes in industrial relations. Here, the theoretical model of change will be applied as well.

4.2.1 The generosity of the welfare state

British welfare state - the Anglo-Saxon tradition

Ideologically, the United Kingdom, as a part of the Anglophone or liberal welfare model, is built around the concept of equality in opportunities, self-responsible individuals and on the belief that freely operating markets maximise welfare (Hemerijck et al. 2013:13). Because of that, key features of a liberal welfare model are: "(...) the lack of institutions for economic coordination, the dominance of financial constraints and shareholder power, and the correspondingly low power of labour, resulting in both flexible employment and weak employee voice" (Rubery et al. 2009: 58). The welfare state provisions mainly serve as a residual safety net, aiming at those in dare need, despite high dependency on the state apparatus due to the weak and fragmented family system (ibid.).

All of these characteristics tend to put the UK in the same typological box as the US, which belong to a highly liberal welfare state. However, the British welfare state looked different prior to reforms initiated by Margaret Thatcher between 1979 and 1997, who believed that the market can solve problems in a more efficient way than the state. Till 1979, Keynesian thinking prevailed in Great Britain, with "the commitment to voluntarily collective regulation

and to a strong public sphere" (ibid.) and with the belief that a growth in aggregate demand could increase employment.

Why reform the labour market?

Prior to Mrs. Thatcher, there was a general perception that the British labour market functioned less efficiently than those in other Western countries known as "British disease" (Blanchflower and Freeman 1993: 3). When Thatcher came to power, she was convinced that the British economic performance was poor because of the following factors:

- For a non-corporatist economy, the union density was high (about 48.7 per cent in 1979¹²) and unions often acted irresponsibly, as in the 1978-79 Winter of Discontent and the 1983 Miners Strike¹³.
- Contrasting with the United States where high union wages coincided with higher productivity compared to non-union workplaces, productivity in the United Kingdom was no better in union than in non-union sectors, despite a 10 per cent union wage effect.
- The UK's nominal wage grew even unemployment rose in the 1970s. Through low productivity growth and high nominal wage increases, inflation rose faster than in the European Economic Community average from 1968 to 1979 (ibid.).
- Labour productivity and output grew slower in the UK than in other OECD countries. "Real GDP per person employed rose by 2.7%, 3.2%, and 1.3% in the U.K. over the periods 1960-68, 1968-73, 1973-79 compared to 4.6%, 4.3%, 2.4% in the EEC in total" (ibid.).

Promotion of the neo-liberal ideology

In order to tackle the "British disease", the New Right under the leadership of Thatcher declared Keynesianism as an out-dated model, believing that wages and employment were two distinct variables. In the Conservative view, high wages destroyed employment especially, if they were enforced by trade unions. Wages should be paid according to demand, or value of work, instead of the artificial levels established by the collective agreements (Whitton 2003:5). Thus, the idea that the market did not need to be constrained

¹² In Germany as a corporatist country the density of TU in 1979 was 35.5 per cent.

¹³ Trade union movement will be addressed later in great detail.

by regulation and by redistributive social policy started to flourish only under Thatcher (Interviewee D; Rubery et al. 2009:58). While no single document exists pinpointing Thatcher's overall programme, most observers agree that it had four key objectives:

- **1. Limiting the power of unions.** During the Thatcher government, closed shops¹⁴ were abolished, the compulsory ballot for strike actions and elections for union leaders were introduced, the principle of fair pay was either abandoned or emasculated, and legal support for union recognition was withdrawn (Interviewee D; Purcell 1993:9);
- 2. Reducing government intervention on market outcomes together with privatisation and deregulation. The Thatcher government was seeking to "roll back" the state and to increase the role of the private sector. A key measure was the "Right to Buy" under which, during 1981 and 1995, around 1.7 million social housings were sold at lower prices to their tenants (see Hills 1998; Jones and Murie 2006). "Whereas in 1979 23 per cent of all housing in Great Britain was owned by local authorities, the proportion was under 19 per cent by 1995" (Hills 1998: 8).
- 3. Controlling public spending and enhancing the rewards of work relative to unemployment benefits. Additionally to housing, the role of the private sector gained more weight through increasingly transferring the task of providing pensions to the funded private sector (Blake 2000). "For each successive cohort retiring, a rising proportion received privately-funded occupational pensions, reducing the importance of state pensions in retirement incomes" (Hills 1998:8). Moreover, the Conservative government introduced a new system of unemployment benefits, abolishing earning related entitlements and restricting conditions for eligibility (Lefresne 2010: 177);
- **4. Enhancing self-employment and atypical employment in general**¹⁵ (Hills 1998:1; Rubery et al. 2008). The number of self-employed grew by almost 100 per cent during the Conservative government. The clearest growth can be depicted from 1981 and 1992 with the increase of more than 3 per cent and reaching 12.5 per cent of total employment (OECD 2015b).

¹⁴ Closed shop is a form of union security agreement under which an employer agrees to hire (and retain in employment) only persons who are members of the trade union. Such an agreement is arranged according to the terms of a labour contract (Britannica).

¹⁵ Will be covered later in the thesis.

New Labour reinforced many developments initiated under Thatcher rather than modifying or weakening them. In the next part, the thesis will describe the core reforms of the New Rights regime connected to the generosity of the welfare state and New Labour's response to them.

Rolling back the welfare state

The period from 1979 till 1997 can be described as an attempt to "roll back the state" (Giddens 2006:370). The first White Paper published by the new Government with regard to the public spending plans stated that "Public expenditure is at the heart of Britain's present economic difficulties" (HM Treasury 1979:1).

Indeed, the Social Citizenship Indicator shows significant cutbacks in the generosity of the welfare state provisions¹⁶. After the Thatcher government came into power in 1979, entitlement levels fell drastically until 1985, then slowly to 1995. In 1995, work accidence insurance, with 20 per cent replacement level, accounted to less than 50 per cent of its level in 1930; unemployment insurance, with 24 per cent, was about two thirds of the 1930 level. Finally, sickness insurance, with 20 per cent, was at about the same level as in 1930 (ibid.). The unemployment replacement rate continued to decline and in 2004 it was just about 54 per cent¹⁷ (OECD 2004).

Unemployment benefits prior to and after the reforms

This part closely examines the system of unemployment benefits before and after the reforms. Prior to the era of Thatcherism, the idea behind the British welfare state was not only to relief poverty but also to provide welfare services on a universal basis and not only to those who are in dare need. Up until the early 1980s, the unemployment benefit system was notably stable, consisting of two components: unemployment benefit as a non-means tested social provision, paid for a maximum period of 12 month and of a fixed amount. Moreover,

The Social Citizenship Indicator Program (SCIP) is a widely accepted indicator which measures the expenditures in major social insurance programmes over time across 18 European countries (SND). Korpi and Palme (2003) take three social insurance programmes which give benefits during short-term absences from work. They are sickness cash insurance, work accident insurance, and unemployment insurance. These three provisions are of key interest for short-term government financial balances and are likely to come under scrutiny in times of crisis (Korpi and Palme 2003: 433; Interviewer E).

¹⁷ To compare with Germany, the level of replacement for sickness and work accident remained stable between 1975 and 1995, accounting for 74.3 per cent in 1995. However, during the 2000s, the level declined to 69 per cent in 2004 (OECD 2004; Korpi and Palme 2003: 435).

in 1966, a complementary benefit was introduced (Earnings Related Supplement (ERS)), which was proportional to previous earning up to a certain limit and paid for the first six months of unemployment. The second benefit was income support, a means-tested social provision, with no time limit and paid to unemployed persons who were ineligible for, or who exhausted their unemployment benefits (Lefresne 2010: 177).

The Conservative governments under Thatcher and Major implemented several changes to the unemployment benefits between 1979 and 1996. The key reform was the abolishment of the supplementary benefit based on previous earnings in 1982. The idea behind it was to make the access to unemployment entitlements more difficult and to reinforce control over jobless people, who would lose their benefits, if they violated the rules. Thus, in 1996, the Jobseeker's Allowance (JSA) was introduced, which became the only form of unemployment entitlements (ibid.: 178; Oakley 2014).

Two versions of JSA were created. The first follows the logic of insurance. Jobseekers who sufficiently contributed to social security schemes over the last two tax years were eligible to so-called JSA-C. JSA-C is a non-means-tested benefit paid for a maximum period of six months. Those, who are not qualified for JSA-C (80 per cent of cases), can receive a means-tested Income Support (JSA-IB), which is for a single person of the same amount as JSA-C but the amount varies according to the family circumstances (Lefresne 2010: 180ff.).

The access to unemployment benefits became more restrictive. Especially long-term unemployed started to face visible disadvantages. If unemployed for more than six months, they came under a general suspicion of being jobless voluntarily. Hence, they are now forced "to donate a set amount of time per week to work voluntary for their local council or have their payments stopped" (GovYou 2015). But also in general, the monitoring of people became one of the key tasks of so-called job centres plus, a modernised version of the former job centres. After 13 weeks of job-search, people lose their rights to be employed in a job with similar conditions as their last one. They become obliged to accept all kinds of job. Furthermore, during the Conservative government, means-tested benefits have increased and were 22 per cent in 1995-96, in comparison to 1979-80, in which they accounted only for 9 per cent of the total (Hills 1998: 10). All in all, the major task of the Conservatives became to provide a job for as many people as possible without paying much attention to the quality of work and to the background of the applicant (Clasen 2005).

Pension system prior and after reforms

The UK was one of the pioneers to introduce formal private pension schemes in the beginning of the 18th century and to start the process of systematically reducing unfunded state pension arrangements in favour of funded private ones (beginning in 1980). Since the intervention of Thatcher into the pension provisions, Britain has become a country in Europe with one of the lowest state pensions (in both terms: the replacement ratio and as a proportion of average earnings) (Blake 2003). The government's agenda was seeking to reduce the cost of public pension provisions by transferring the burden and benefits to the private sector. Thus, during the Conservative Governments, the following changes were introduced: 1. the state pension age was increased from 60 to 65 for women over a ten-year period starting in 2010; 2. the pension was reduced from 25 per cent of average revaluated band earnings over the best 20 years to 20 per cent (gradually over a ten-year period starting in 1999); 3. the spouse's pension was decreased from 100 per cent of the member's pension to the half (beginning in October 2001) (ibid.).

The current pensions system consists of three pillars and is extremely complex (Guardiancich 2010). A flat-rate pension constitutes the first pillar and is provided by the state known as the basic state pension (BSP). In the second and third pillar, additional pensions are provided by the state, employer and private sector financial institutions. Every person can chose between three options. The first one is a state system which offers a low level of pension relative to average earnings. The second is an occupational system with higher level of pension, however as a result of poor transfer values between schemes on changing jobs, only employees who work most of their working lives for the same company, can really enjoy its benefits. The third option is a personal pension system, which offers fully portable pensions but these are grounded on uncertain investment returns and are assigned to high administrative charges (Blanke 2003). Moreover, there are different sub-options in the second and third pillars and several combinations as well. The first pillar pension (state pension) was 95 GBR per week in 1997-1998 and 95.25 GBR per week in 2009-2010 for a person living in a single household and 133 GBR/152.30 per week respectively for couples. Thus, the replacement rate has remained almost the same during the last ten years. It is also obvious that the state pension is not sufficient to reach the minimum level of benefits. On

average, it makes up for about 64 per cent of all sources of retirement income. The remaining 36 per cent are covered by two other pillars (Blanke 2003; Guardiancich 2010).

All in all, the findings on the United Kingdom undoubtedly show that during the Thatcher period different reforms aiming at cutting back the benefits to a pre-Beveridge level were introduced. The unemployment benefits related to the previous earnings were abolished and monitoring of people reinforced. The already low state pension was further restricted. Changes in unemployment assistance indicate a state that pushes people into a job, independent of it being suitable for them or not. They also suggest a dramatic change in an advanced welfare state, carried out by a Conservative government with an absolute majority in the parliament and few veto points marked by a weakened Labour Party and a largely defeated trade union movement (Korpi and Palme 2003: 434). To compare it with Germany, we can see a clear difference between the majoritarian electoral system and centralised power and a federal system of decentralised power with several veto points, which did not allow drastic reforms to happen.

Consequences of "rolling back the state"

Many observers have argued that the British Labour market overcame the crisis due to the shift from the Keynesian model to the neo-liberal one (Whitton 2003: 4). The shift in the welfare state ideology was indeed a success in terms of reducing unemployment rates, which reached their peak of 12 percent in 1984. In 2014, the employment rate averaged 72 per cent (see Allmendinger 2013: 75; OECD 2015b; Taborda 2015), which indicates that in comparison to the average of the OECD countries (65.2 per cent), the UK performed quite well (OECD 2015b).

However, through the labour market reforms some negative externalities emerged as well. For instance, traditional patterns of one person one job were smudged, giving birth to a multiplicity of job contracts, of temporary labour relationships and above all part-time employment (Whitton 2003:4). Moreover, general inequality and child poverty increased dramatically. More than one in four UK children was living in relative poverty, compared to one in eight in 1979 (Hills and Stewart 2005). Income inequality has increased sharply: "in 1979 the post-tax income of the top tenth of the income distribution was about five times that of the bottom tenth; by the mid-1990s that ratio had doubled" (ibid.: 1).

Response from New Labour

Under the Labour Government most of these tendencies have been rather reinforced than changed. With regard to privatisation, New Labour continued Thatcher's agenda, by intensifying the product market deregulation and globalisation (Rubery et al. 2009: 60, 67). Likewise, the feature of Great Britain as a low regulated economy has been intensified. It has not only retained its status as the most deregulated economy since 1998, but it became the only country with a liberal approach in all three policy areas. They are: state control, barriers to entrepreneurship and barriers to trade and investment (ibid.: 66f.).

Concerning the attempt to "roll back the state", the New Labour did not entirely continue with the same strategy as the Conservatives (Interviewee D). On the one hand, there has been an intensification of the welfare system as a strongly targeted system on households means-testing. On the other, however, social safety nets under New Labour expended the range of households eligible for means-tested benefits (OECD 2005, Chapter 3). Starting from 1999 great attention was paid to the expenditure on health and education. The expenditure on health rose in real terms by 36 GBR billion between 2000 and 2007, the one on education by 23 GBR billion during the same period (Rubery et al. 2009: 64). Rubery et al. (2009) argue that the years 1999/2000 were the turning point for the British welfare state because New Labour shifted its focus from austerity and cutbacks to greater spending. "The sharp change in public spending is evident in the rise in health spending from an average of just 5.4 per cent of GDP during the 1990s to 7.3 per cent by 2006/07; and a parallel rise in education spending from an average of 4.8 per cent during the 1990s to 5.5 per cent in 2006/07" (ibid.).

Moreover, it was rather a personal commitment of Brown to reduce inequality and to eliminate child poverty. A special budget was created to support poor families with dependent children, focusing on single parents. As a consequence, child poverty declined by a third which was on the one hand a success, on the other, a failure, since the target of 50 per cent reduction by 2010 was not fulfilled (Rubery et al. 2009:65). Furthermore, in the UNICEF international comparison of children's welfare, the UK was ranked last out of 21 wealthy countries on the score of "material well-being" (ibid.). In comparison, Germany took the 11th position, being in the middle, while the Netherlands and Sweden shared the first

two places (UNICEF 2007:2). Additionally, the turning point in tackling child poverty and inequality by New Labour was closely linked with neoliberal ideas. They involved a high pressure on beneficiaries, including single parents, to search for a job connected with more generous provisions for those who do enter employment. The justification of this policy was that a job supports parents to escape the poverty trap. However, in reality, very often welfare recipients are forced to take any work, often low-paid, without a real perspective to increase their wealth. The only deviation from this strategy was the upgrading of the national minimum wage during 2001-2006, party so as to reduce the costs of the in-work benefits to the state (Rubery et al. 2009:65).

Furthermore, the higher levels of inequality at least at the top end of the distribution, continued to exist. In the late 2000s, the average income of the richest 10 per cent of earners was almost twelve times that of the bottom 10 per cent of the population, up from eight times in 1985 and above the European ratio of nine to one. Germany was in the middle, performing slightly better than the OECD average (OECD 2011; theguardian).

With regard to the pension system, the Blair Government rather continued Thatcher's agenda to reduce the cost to the state of public pension provision by transferring the burden of benefits to the private sector. Notwithstanding, New Labour put much greater emphasis on redistribution to poorer groups of society than it was the case under the Conservative government. As a key change, a means-tested minimum income guarantee (MIG) for pensioners was introduced in 1999, which ensures a minimum income of 75 GBR per week. The MIG is given to everybody, as long as they can prove their eligibility (Blake 2003). However, the problem of "under-pensioned" people has not been solved. The state pension in the UK has remained one of the lowest in Europe. This mainly affects low-income workers working in atypical jobs and women who, due to interruptions and also part-time jobs, accumulate disadvantages, which significantly lowers their income during old age (Guardiancich 2010).

All in all, we can observe a significant reduction in the generosity of the social provisions. This is indicated by the abolishment of the ERS proportional to previous earnings and being an additional assistance to the unemployment benefits. Instead the flat-rate jobseekers benefits aiming at bringing people as quickly as possible back to work, was introduced. Moreover, access to unemployment provisions became more difficult and its control stricter,

forcing people to "voluntarily" work in case they stay unemployed for more than six months. These changes were accompanied with waves of privatisation and deregulation, selling social houses, and setting free the market.

New Labour continued this path in principle, albeit framing the neoliberal ideas in a more social way, putting greater emphasis on the reduction of inequality and child poverty as well as spending more money on health and education. Moreover, the national minimum wage was increased as well. However, the created system of unemployment benefits under Thatcher and Major was in no way modified.

Forms of change in the welfare provisions in the United Kingdom

Table 9 Core principles of British social provisions before and after the reforms

	UK	UK	
	(prior to reforms)	(today)	
Unemployment	Non-means-tested	Non-means-tested	
benefits/Contribution-based	Aim: relief poverty and provide	Aim: relief poverty	
Jobseekers' Allowance (JSA-C)	welfare services on a universal		
	basis		
Conditions	Contributions paid over 1 year	More difficult access ¹⁸	
	and over each of the 2 years;	contributions paid over 1 year	
	easy access	and over each of the 2 years	
Duration	Max. 1 year/6 months for ERS	Max. 182 days in any job	
		seeking period	
Amount	2 types: flat-rate and ERS	Flat-rate; Aged 25 or over:	
	average replacement rates:	approx. 320 EUR per month	
	16.3% (single); 26.2% (couple)	replacement rates: 12.4%	
		(single); 20.1% (couple)	
Sanctions	Allowance not paid for a certain	Allowance not paid for a	
	period if the jobseeker is not	certain period if the jobseeker	
	active; in practice: no strict	is not active; in practice: strict	
	control	control	
Patterns of change	Layering, Displacement		
Income Support/ JSA-IB	Means-tested Means-tested		
Conditions	Exhaustion or non-eligibility to	Exhaustion or non-eligibility to	
	the unemployment benefits	the JSA-C ¹⁹	
Duration	Unlimited duration	Unlimited duration	

¹⁸ Only 20% of registered unemployed people qualify for JSA-C (2010).

¹⁹ Other conditions are: to be involuntarily unemployed; to be available for work; to be actively seeking employment; must not have savings in excess of GBP 16,000 (€20,009); 80% of registered unemployed qualify for the JSA-IB.

Amount	Flat-rate	the level for single people is	
		the same as for JSA-C, for	
		couples varies	
Sanctions	See sanctions for	See sanctions for JSA-C	
	unemployment benefits		
Pattern of change	Layering		
Pension schemes	Three pillars system:	Three pillars system:	
	combination of state,	combination of state,	
	employers and private	employers and private	
	contributions contributions; reduction		
		state pension provisions;	
		introduction of MIG	
	Aim: to relief from poverty	Aim: to relief from poverty	
Patterns of change	Layering, Revitalisation		

(Sources: own completion based on Blanchflower and Freeman 1993; Lefresne 2010; MISSOC 2014).

Table 9 above summarises the main changes. (1) Using the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen we can observe layering in the case of unemployment benefits and income support. The changes have certain similarities with the German reforms, despite their different extent. The old practises of non-means-tested provisions were not abolished but new rules were implemented on top of the ones already in place. Only a small minority of jobseekers is now eligible to the non-means-tested JSA-C, while the vast majority of unemployed has to rely on low means-tested entitlements. Long-term unemployed started to be the most disadvantaged group, becoming a subject of strict control and of voluntary work. Exhaustion would not be suitable to describe the emerged system, since there was no practice of negligence of old rules. Drift would not be a right pattern of change either, since no changed impact through political inaction appeared. Quite to the contrary, politicians were very active in modifying the system of unemployment benefits. Conversion would not be appropriate either, because already existing practises were not used for different purposes. Revitalisation is obvious not the right pattern of change, since the unemployment benefits did not become more generous.

(2) In addition, short-term unemployed people began to face greater disadvantages as well, as the Earnings Related Supplement was abolished and control mechanisms became sticker for everybody. Still, some old elements of the model remained in place, especially the non-means tested nature of the JSA-C. Because one great element of social provisions, namely

the ERS ceased to exist, there was **displacement** as well. In this case layering would not be suitable due to the abolishment of a traditional practice. Drift does not apply because of the active government. Conditions for exhaustion are not satisfactory either due to the lack of negligence of old rules. Conversion does not apply either because old practices were not enacted. Last but not least, revitalisation is not suitable either, since the conditions for the unemployed did not improve.

- (3) Talking about the pension system, evidence of the reduction of state pension was shown in the previous part of the thesis. Thatcher followed a clear aim to reduce the state intervention and to put greater burden on private actors. The pension age was increased and the amount of benefits reduced affecting especially people working in low-income jobs. The British pension system has always been among the least generous in comparison to other European countries. However, during the New Right's period, this feature was reinforced even more. Observing the model of Streeck and Thelen, layering would best describe the patter of change in the pension system, moving the British model away from the ESM and bringing it closer to the US purely liberal one. Displacement or exhaustion would not be an appropriate description, since the basic state pension still exists and it is not neglected. Drift would not be suitable either, since we cannot find any evidence of a changed impact on the pension schemes due to inactivity of the government. Lastly, revitalisation would be least suitable since no improvements were made.
- (4) Despite these neoliberal tendencies, a case of modest **revitalisation** can be observed. With regard to the **public expenditures on pension**, New Labour turned out to be more generous than its predecessors. Blair aimed at addressing people of old age suffering from poverty by introducing the Minimum Income Guarantee. However, the attempt of revitalisation was rather modest in extent, since the logic of neoliberalism remained stable. Thus, the introduction of the MIG with 75 GBR per week is anything but sufficient to exceed the poverty line in old age.

4.2.2 The extent of non-standard employment

Standard and atypical employment in the United Kingdom: definitions and delimitations

Before analysing changes in the employment relationship, it is vital to define some central terms. As stated above, atypical employment is often defined in contrast to standard employment.

A Eurofound study devoted to the UK defines non-standard employment as encompassing employees: without employment contract; who report working a very small number of hours (less than 10 hours a week); who are employed on the basis of temporary employment contracts of six months or less. Additionally, apprentices, unpaid family members and bogus self-employees are considered to be in the category of atypical employment (Broughton 2010). Some authors also underline the existence of Zero hours contracts in the UK: under these contracts employees work only upon request by the employer. Also, no contractual obligation exists that guarantees a certain amount of work (Caldarine et al. 2014: 103). Other researchers subsume marginal part-time employment (with less than 20 hours per week), substantial part-time employment (with 20 hours per week and more but less than 35 hours a week) and solo self-employment (without employees) under the concept of atypical employment in the UK (see Allmendinger at al. 2013). Agency work is also considered to be a type of atypical employment (Edwards 2006: 2).

In the next section, the development of atypical employment in the UK will be critically analysed. Categories described above will be used to observe the changes on the labour market.

The changing patterns in the work relationship in the United Kingdom

It is probably understandable that due to the high rates of structural unemployment during the late 1970s and the beginning 1980s, the growth of atypical employment was hardly a major preoccupation for British governments. "In many respects it was seen as being an inevitable fact of labour market life and was both condemned and tolerated as such" (Whitton 2014: 5). Table 10 presents types of atypical forms of work that are distinguished in

the OECD survey (OECD 2015b). The table indicates that the rise of atypical employment in the UK started considerably earlier than in Germany, namely between the 1970s and 1990s. Thus, it is necessary to start observations earlier as well.

The table indicates the following trends: the share of self-employed almost doubled during the last 40 years. The clearest growth can be observed between 1981 and 1992 with the increase of more than 3 per cent and reaching 12.5 per cent of total employment. Temporary employment increased in 1997 and reached 7.8 per cent in comparison to 1981, where it accounted for 6.16 per cent, but then it decreased again and accounted only for 6.2 per cent of total work in 2013. In comparison to Germany, this number is quite low: in Germany in 2013, 13.4 per cent of employees were temporary employed. Temporary work in the UK is wide-spread in the public sector, where it occurs twice as often as in the economy as a whole. It is very common in occupations such as teaching, where one out of five employees work temporary. Approx. 50 per cent of all temporary employees have fixed-term contracts, 20 per cent are in "normal" employment, while 10 per cent are employed through agencies. The rest is in seasonal or "other" types of work (see Edwards 2006: 3).

Table 10 Development of atypical employment in the United Kingdom 1971-2013

Year	Self-	Temporary	Part-time	Unpaid Family	Zero hours	All
	employed	(% of all	(As % of all	(in thousand)	(As % of all	atypical
	(% of all	employees)	employees)		employees)	(In %)
	workers)					
1971	8.29%	n.a.	15.0%	n.a.	n.a	ca. 17%
1981	9.2%	6.16%	20.6%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
1992/3	12.5%	5.9%	23.3%	141	n.a.	n.a.
1996/7	13.2%	7.8%	25.3%	113	0.6%	21.6%
2000	12.82%	6.8%	23.0%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
2005/8	12.7%	5.9%	25.7%	92	0.5%	18.7%
2013	14.4%	6.2%	24.5%	110	1.9%	21.9%

(Source: own completion based on: Brinkley 2014; Edwards 2006: 3; Labour Force Survey, spring each year; OECD 2015b; Smith 2003).

As Smith in his research (2003) shows the case of Great Britain is not as straight forward as Germany. For instance, part-time employment has been growing significantly in Britain during the post-war period. However, the growth was more pronounced in the 1970s than in the 1980s, with the first half of the 1990s recording an almost static share for part-timers and the late 1990s witnessing a slight decrease in the proportion of the part-time employment (Smith 2003:252).

Unfortunately, the OECD data and the British Labour Force Survey measure atypical employment in rather broad categories. For more differentiated information about workers in atypical employment presented in the previous section, no long-term data exists (Broughton 2010). However, some authors attempt to estimate certain types of atypical employment in present. Although long-term comparisons do not exist, the knowledge of nowadays situation is vital in order to see the holistic picture of the labour market in the UK. Hence, below, data on different types of non-standard work based on contributions from Broughton 2010; Caldarine et al. 2014 will be presented.

In 2013, the majority of British workers continued to work on standard full-time contracts (21.65 million or 73 per cent of those in employment). From these 21.65 million, 18 million worked full-time, which means that they worked under contracts of employment with access to the full range of statutory employment rights. Another 3 million worked under "contracts for services" defined as "workers" in legal terms. It means that they were treated as self-employed and enjoyed less social welfare protection. For example, "workers" have no right to protection against unfair dismissal (even if they have worked for a company several years) and they do not fall under "fixed-term workers regulations" (Regulation 2002), which provides employees with the right to "no less favourable treatment". Over the last decade, the use of temporary agency work has grown notably. In 2005, there were some 6,000 employment agencies operating through 14,400 branches and sourcing 1.2 million workers a day which makes 5 per cent of the national workforce (Caldarine et al. 2014: 101f.).

Only little data on workers with Zero hours contracts exist. Broughton in the Eurofound Survey estimates that approx. 5 per cent of workplaces hired at least some workers on zero hour's contracts (Broughton 2010). Concerning the workers on a very small number of hours, there are calculations that approx. eight per cent of the workers are employed by contracts where they have to work less than 10 hours a week (Caldarine et al. 2014: 103). There is also

only very little data on the length of fixed-term contracts. According to Broughton (2010), the majority of fixed-term contacts in the United Kingdom is of less than 12 months duration. There are no accurate statistics on bugger self-employment. However, in 2013, from 4.2 million people being identified as self-employed, 3 million worked full-time. Last but not least, unpaid family members is rather a small category, in which only about 100,000 persons declared to be (2013) (ibid.: 104).

To sum up, this section has shown that although the majority of the people are employed under a standard contract, there is a significant part of people working in atypical types of employment. It is also obvious that the number of people being employed atypically has increased during the last decades. However, not all categories were equally affected. Especially the number of people working under temporary contracts remained relatively stable since the 1970s. However, there has been a significant increase in self-employed and part-time employed persons. In comparison to Germany, the UK has much less people working on temporary contracts (13.4 per cent vs. 6.2 per cent in 2013). In terms of part-time employment, Germany (22.4 per cent) and the UK (24.5 per cent) are neck and neck. However, even the picture of the UK does not seem to be too pessimistic, important differences in the organisation of the welfare state makes it more difficult for employees in the UK to maintain a high standard of life.

Employment in the UK is characterised by a comparable low level of social protection. Additionally, social protection is based on the concept of full- and permanent employment and there are no particular measures seeking to address people with non-standard contracts. In contrast to Germany, UK workers are largely unprotected at work. For instance, there is little protection against unfair dismissal, unless they worked for the same employer for more than two years (Solicitors 2014). In case a person loses her or his job, she or he can apply for the Job Seekers' Allowance (JSA) of maximum six months. However, as a previous sub-section has shown, only the minority of the unemployed are eligible to claim unemployment benefits based on contributions. The type of contract is the main explanation for this discrepancy. For instance, for agency workers, it might be hard to claim JSA-C because they often work during irregular periods and have a lower salary than is required in order to be eligible to claim unemployment benefits. Additionally, they are more likely to be defined as "self-employed", a category which is excluded from the JSA-C scheme. However,

due to the dramatic increase in self-employment during 1981-1992, this rule seems to disadvantage a significant group of workers who have only the possibility to claim meanstested benefits.

Moreover, non-standard contracts make it more difficult for workers to receive the state pension, which is also based on the contributions made during the working life. For example, breaks in work affect the number of years of contributions, which is problematic for fixed-term workers (Caldarine et al. 2014: 105). Thus, they are likely to be eligible only for the MIG, which is low. The overall picture indicates an increase in atypical employment, albeit less stringent than in Germany. Still, around 22 per cent of all workers have atypical contracts.

Forms of change in atypical employment in the United Kingdom

Table 11 below summarises the development in atypical employment and conditions for access to social provisions before and after the reforms.

Table 11 Atypical employment and conditions for access to social provisions before and after the reforms

	United Kingdom	United Kingdom		
	(prior to reforms)	(today)		
Atypical employment	ca. 17 %	21.9%		
Conditions for access to social provisions relevant for atypically employed workers				
Hours or wage threshold	An earnings threshold applies	An earnings threshold applies		
Minimum contribution period	Unemployment benefits: 25x of min. contribution in the last year + in the last 2 years min. 50x of contribution; Income Support: no conditions, but means-tested; Part time workers and temporary workers: difficult to gain entitlements for the ERS for persons with low earnings; easier access for atypical workers	JSA-C: 25x of min. contribution in the last year + in the last 2 years min. 50x of contribution; JSA-IB: no conditions, but meanstested Part time workers and temporary workers: difficult to gain JSA-C for persons with low earnings; selfemployed and most atypical are not eligible for JSA-C;		

	ERS : yes, other entitlements:	
	no	
Dependence on former	No, ERS 6 months for all; other	No, since JSA-C and JSA-IB are low
wage level (applies to	entitlements: unlimited,	flat-rate benefits
part-time workers)	means-tested	No, JSA-C 6 months for all; JSA-IN:
Dependence on former		unlimited, means-tested
contribution time		
Patterns of change	Layering and Drift (for self-employed)	

(Sources: own completion based on Leschke 2006: 132; MISSOC 2014).

What can the theoretical model of Streeck and Thelen say about the patterns of change in the British employment model?

- (1) First of all, similar to the German case, we observe layering. While the majority of employees are still covered by standard employment, more than 20 per cent of the workforce has atypical contracts. They clearly face disadvantages in terms of social benefits and later on pension arrangements, being forced to rely on the MIG in order to escape ending up under the poverty line. Through a series of regulations the employment rights were more and more flexibilised and through the restrictions on unemployment benefits in conjunction with stricter control mechanisms, an increasing number of people were forced to take any job, even if they were overqualified for it. These tendencies were reinforced by systematically weakening the position of trade unions and collective bargaining, which undermined the rights not only of atypical employees but also of people employed under standard contracts, since the average wage of an individual contract is lower with more working hours. Thus, other theoretical patterns would not satisfy the real outcome. Displacement is not observable, since there is no removal of old rules that would change the whole system. Exhaustion did not happen either because existing practices were not neglected. Conversion is also an inapplicable pattern of change, since the condition of old rules enactment is not given. Last but not least, we do not find any evidence of revitalisation of the unions' movement.
- (2) The second pattern of change is **drift**. This applies to the self-employed people. Drift is an institutional change through political inaction. In the case of **self-employment** it means that this category had always a restricted access to unemployment benefits based on contributions. However, this group was of an insignificant number and for this reason did

not play a big role in terms of redistribution. However, during the Conservative government, it increased by almost 100 per cent and thus stopped to be a marginal category. Despite this fact, the government did not attempt to include this group into the social protection system by extending the unemployment benefits to the self-employed. They remained excluded from social provisions based on contributions and are eligible only to means-tested entitlements. Conditions for revitalisation or layering are not satisfied, since there was no introduction of new rules to protect or to weaken the position of self-employed. Displacement did not occur either, since old rules were not removed. Finally, existing practices were not neglected which speaks against exhaustion.

All in all, we can say that a worker being employed in whatever type of contract is less protected in the UK than in Germany. During the reign of Thatcher but also under New Labour, workers' rights were weakened even more, with atypical employees becoming the most vulnerably group.

4.2.3 Industrial relations

The traditional role of trade unions and "free collective bargaining"

Historically, and in contrast to many other European countries, the British (proto-) capitalist class rolled back the prerogatives of the monarchy gradually and peacefully. This mouthed in a separation of relatively weak public institutions from economic life, commonly described as the laissez-faire doctrine (Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2013: 25). A weak legal framework in turn hampered the legalisation of trade unions and their recognition as partners instead of "enemies". In practice it means that employers were not obliged to negotiate with unions and collective agreements were never legally binding (Fairbrother 2007: 146).

The Trade Union Congress (TUC), the national organisation of British trade unions, was founded in 1868 and shaped the modern industrial relations structure of Britain for most of the 20th century. Albeit restrained in the early years, the TUC managed to gradually unite a huge number of trade unions across the majority of sectors of the economy and maintains close ties with the Labour Party (Fairbrother 2007: 145; TUC 2010). Till today the TUC is the

sole national union which is comparable with the German DGB, although the German union landscape looks more differentiated. Today, there are around 60 unions in the TUC, though their size varies from a couple of ten thousand members to over a million members in the case of Unite, the strongest sectoral union (TUC 2010: 14).

During the whole history of the TUC, voluntarism has been a key characteristic of union identity, emphasising on "free collective bargaining". For instance, the trade unions were firmly opposing a statutory minimum wage throughout the 20th century. During the 1960s and 1970s, the British TU could be described as being moderate and militant at the same time. One characteristic was that the TUC almost always started its actions with strikes before they entered into a constructive dialogue with the employers. On the other hand TUC was in a way also moderate, as its actions primarily aimed at maintaining their position rather than extending their influence (Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2013: 26). During the post-war period, the TUC was quite successful with its strategy based on the idea of voluntarism. For instance, in 1948 the National Health Service (NHS) was created as a result of union campaigning. In 1970 the Equal Pay Act abolished the legality for employers to pay a woman a different wage (TUC 2010: 15). Before the oils crises, a favourable employment structure with a low unemployment rate, employers willing to compromise and a state that did not intervene in collective bargaining, made it quite easy for them to be successful in asserting better working conditions and in improving workers' rights. To sum up, although based on "voluntary" character, the TUC was widely recognised by employers. The principle of union membership together with collective bargaining in the public sector appeared to be deep-rooted in British industrial relations, which led to high union density in the country (Purcell 1993: 8). The union density was indeed much higher than in Germany: in 1979, e.g. 48.7 per cent of all workers were union members, while in Germany only 35.3 per cent of the working population belonged to a trade union (OECD 2015a).

The industrial relations in flux

However, since the late 1970s, unions started to face declining memberships, a difficult relationship with employers, and a hostile conservative government. Moreover, some of the TU have troubled relationships with their key political supporter, the Labour Party (Interviewee D; Fairbrother 2007: 145). The trigger of the unions' crisis was the promotion of

a "Social Contract", an arrangement between the Labour Government and the TUC, which implied a voluntary wage restraint in return for the government's commitment to improve the "social wage" (such as an increase in public spending on schools, hospitals and pensions, supplemented by food subsidies, as well as price and rent controls). The burden of the agreement would have rested on the public sector unions. "However, the viability of the "Social Contract" was imperilled in 1978-9 when a number of these unions rebelled" (ibid.: 146). The so-called "winter of discontent" strongly contributed to alienating the unions and the labour party from each other. Furthermore, after 1979, when Conservatives took office, the position of the TUC started to weaken significantly through the legislative attack initiated by Thatcher (Purcell 1993:8). In particular, the miner's strike in 1984-85 served the government as a pretext to introduce legislation to limit the unions' power even further (Whitton 2003:5).

During the Thatcher government, closed shops were abolished, the compulsory ballot for strike actions and the compulsory election of top union members was introduced, the principle of fair pay was either abandoned or emasculated and legal support for union recognition was withdrawn. Moreover, the National Economic Development Council²⁰ (NEDC) was abandoned as well. The last act marked the end of any attempt to develop a corporatist union role at government level (Purcell 1993:9). This attack was facilitated by the decline of the manufacturing sector, where the unions traditionally recruit the majority of their membership (ibid.). In 1983, the unemployment rate reached 11 per cent following a time in which both the traditional manufacturing and "heavy" industries such as steel and coal mining had experienced massive losses in quantities of jobs. Competition from abroad had reinforced this tendency, contributing to decreasing the attractiveness of many British products (Whitton 1003:5). The Conservatives put heavy restrictions on unions, mainly because they believed that the TU were largely responsible for the British long-term economic decline (Interviewee E; Coates 2000).

The new reality

-

²⁰ The NEDC was a corporatist economic planning forum launched in 1962 in Britain, bringing together management, trades unions and government in an attempt to address UK's relative economic decline (Hain 2015: 97).

The analyses of Purcell (1993) and of Addison et al. (2011) based among all on the Workplace Industrial Relations Survey (WIRS) clearly show the consequences of the shifts mentioned above. First, numerous companies withdrew from the collective agreements, which led to a strong growth of single employer bargaining with the employee being put in a much weaker position. For instance, in the private service sector, in 1990 there were only 16 per cent of non-manual employees with a wage concluded through collective agreement, compared with 40 per cent in 1984. In the public sector, collective bargaining declined from 91 to 84 per cent coverage for manual workers, and from 98 to 84 per cent for non-manual in the same period from 1984-1990. The proportion of companies that recognised trade unions fell from 66 per cent in 1984 to 53 per cent in 1990. In 2004, the share of establishments with 25 or more employees that recognised one or more unions for collective bargaining was 22.3 per cent, while it used to be 49.5 per cent in 1980 (Addison et al. 2011: 493).

Addison et al. (2011) compared the decline in collective bargaining in Britain between 1998 and 2004 with the German one. The authors show that the decline was markedly in both countries, however in the British case, it was twice as sharp as in Germany and the levels of collective bargaining coverage remained considerably higher in Germany than in Britain throughout the period. By 2004, over 50 per cent of German establishments were covered by a collective agreement. With ca. 15 per cent, the union recognition rate in the UK was less than one-third of that of Germany, having decreased by over one-quarter in the previous six years. The rate of decline was one-and-a-half times steeper in Britain (30 per cent compared with around 20 per cent in Germany) (Addison et al. 2011: 498). Closely related to the decrease in collective bargaining, the union density was on decline as well. It fell from 48.7 per cent in 1979 to 38.1 per cent in 1990; and in 2013 it amounted just for 25.4 per cent of the working population (OECD 2015a; Purcell 1993:14f.).

Closely connected to the declining role of British unions and to the shift in the sectoral composition of the workforce, a new alternative employment model started to emerge. Moreover, the Conservatives began to promote any type of job, extolling the merits of each and every employment in comparison to welfare dependency, arguing that the majority of the population got used to profit from welfare benefits and thus must be activated (Whitton 2003: 5). Following this rhetoric, the minimum wage protection that was adopted by the

Wages Council was modified, now excluding young people. The argument was similar that "low wages are better than no wages" (ibid.: 6). In 1993, the Wage Council was fully abolished with the argument that setting the wage is a matter between an individual and their employer and that an external intervention could destroy a "natural" equilibrium, which binds the two contract parties in their professional relationship (ibid.).

Thus, the political landscape during the Thatcher period was highly receptive for the emergence of new models of employment. These new models emphasised much less the quality of work, employee development and fair payment but mainly minimising the costs of labour²¹ (Interviewee E). Although acknowledging its drawbacks, atypical employment was seen as a merit, since it was not only better than being unemployed but also corresponded the adaptation of labour to the requirements of the modern global market (Whitton 2003:6).

In comparison to Germany, where there was no legislation against trade unions, the British case clearly indicates a desire of the Conservative government to reduce the influence of the TU significantly. Especially the system of collective bargaining suffered seriously and the employment contracts reached through collective negotiations drastically declined over the past decades. Thus, In Britain, the decline of collective bargaining has been more pronounced than in Germany where, in 2013, collective bargaining still accounted for 55 per cent of the workforce. Although the density of trade unions is higher in the UK than in Germany (in 2013: 25.4 per cent versus 17.7 per cent), the position of the TU in Great Britain was significantly weakened and employers started to prefer individual negotiations with employees.

Forms of change in industrial relations in the United Kingdom

 Table 12 Development of union density and collective bargaining in the United Kingdom

Year	Union density	Collective Bargaining – workers in %
1979/84	48.7%	70%
1987/90	43.2%	54%
1997/98	30.9%	41%
2007	27.9%	n.a.

²¹ They can also be described as an atypical employment relationship with "a higher rate of industrial injuries; more often used performance-related pay; no use job evaluation; higher pay differentials between the bottom an top earners; a higher proportion of employees earning low pay; higher probability of hiring freelance and temporary labour; with a dismissal rate twice that of unionised firms" etc. (Purcell 1993:21f.).

2013	25.4%	29.2%
------	-------	-------

(Source: own completion based on: OECD 2015a; Schmidt and Dworschak 2006).

The table above summarises the developments of union density and collective bargaining in the UK. How can these changes be described with the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen?

(1) There is evidence of partial displacement of the industrial relations because through the "legislative attacks" of the conservative government, only a small part of the working population is nowadays covered by collective agreements. A clear majority has to negotiate working conditions tete-a-tete with the employer. Moreover, compared to 1979, where almost 50 per cent of workers were members of the TU, trade union density has halved. Only 29.2 per cent of all workers were covered by collective agreements in 2013 and only 25.4 per cent were members of a union. These developments play an important role with regard to the quality of work and the amount of earnings. According to the UK government, union members earn 15 per cent more per hour than non-union members. Moreover, workers covered by a collective agreement have an average working week of 37.3 hours compared to 41.4 hours for those not covered by a collective agreement (Crook 2010). Because of a large number of workers not being covered by collective agreements, we can speak of partial displacement of the system. A basic assumption behind this decision is that, if more than 50 per cent of the workforce does not belong to a certain system anymore, then the system lost its influence and has been partly displaced by a new one.

In the present case, exhaustion would not be suitable to describe what happened in the field of industrial relations, since it needs the condition of negligence of old practices, which is not the case. Drift is not appropriate either, since there is no changed impact due to the governmental inaction or inactivity of social partners. Conversion does not fit, since there is no enactment of existing rules. Finally, revitalisation obviously did not occur due to the continuous decline in power of unions and the system of collective bargaining.

All in all, through the legislative attacks of Thatcher we can observe a dramatic change in the British system of union relations and collective bargaining.

4.2.4 Overall conclusions on the developments in the British welfare state

This section summarises the main results and puts the theoretical outcomes of all three domains in one table to ease the comparison of results.

The British liberal welfare state model has never been the most generous among the European welfare regimes. However, it experienced its peak in the post-war period with a low unemployment rate, a stable system of "free collective bargaining", a high density of trade unions, the vast majority of people working in standard employment contracts and earnings related non-means tested unemployment benefits. Thus, the British model, despite being commonly perceived as a liberal welfare state, consisted of many social components typical for the European Social Model and distinguishable from the US' purely liberal welfare regime.

After the "Golden Age" came to an end, the unemployment rate increased and the economic performance of the UK stagnated. Thatcher was convinced that the UK's difficult economic situation was due to an expensive social state together with too high wages and too powerful trade unions. She held that Keynesianism does not work anymore and that neoliberal ideology is the right answer to "British disease". Thus, she developed a four pointed strategy how to tackle it and since that time the paradigm shift began.

The paradigm shift came more decisive than in Germany. Radical reforms were possible mainly due to the majoritarian centralised system of the UK. Thatcher managed to decrease the influence of the trade unions in a few years, using "legislative attacks". Moreover, through her encouragement to self-employment and through "rolling back" the welfare provisions, she succeeded in diminishing the unemployment rate. A new culture of work was promoted that made the unemployed solely responsible for their failure to find an appropriate job and forced them to accept any work.

These new developments made the British welfare system look more similar to the US model and dislodged it from the ESM. New Labour was not per se against the reforms undertaken during the New Right period, however it attempted to make the liberal model more social in a way that more financial resources were dedicated to tackling inequality and

child poverty, which reached alarming dimensions during the Conservatives' reign. More investment in health and education together with the introduction of the MIG were also distinctive for New Labour. Still, the neoliberal logic was never questioned, especially because Thatcher managed to reduce the unemployment rate, which was seen as lying at the heart of the British employment agenda. Table 13 summarises the main theoretical findings.

Table 13 United Kingdom: types of institutional change: processes and outcomes

Core Elements of Welfare State	Patterns of change
Access to social provisions for all types of workers	Displacement, Layering and Revitalisation
Extent of atypical employment contracts	Layering and Drift
Density of trade unions and system of collective bargaining	Partial Displacement

(Sources: own completion based on Streeck and Thelen 2005; Busch et al. 2009).

Contrasting with Germany, not only layering but also (partial) displacement appears to be a common pattern of change. As the theory of Streeck and Thelen assumes, gradual changes are unlikely to modify all key elements of the entire welfare regime. However, they are likely to lead to a significant shift. This shift in the British case is more visible than in Germany, since in the UK it was more because of the ideological belief that less state and freer markets are the best medicine to address the economic challenges and to regain economic growth. Thus, the reforms were more radical and decisive in their nature and happened during a few years, while in Germany the transformation was much more gradual.

On the one hand the fact that layering seems to be one of the most common patterns of change, indicates that even decisive reforms are unlikely to completely modify all key elements of a welfare regime. On the other hand, in the case of trade unions and collective bargaining we can observe partial displacement, since the vast majority of workers are not covered by collective agreements anymore. In the domain of atypical employment not only layering but also drift occurred. Although self-employed started to constitute a significant group of the labour population, the government did not react. Due to the government's inaction, they were excluded from the contributions based unemployment benefits. In the

case of the generosity of the welfare state, we even face a great mixture of outcomes. Together with abolishing the ERS and the discrimination against atypical workers, we can observe some attempts to revitalise the Anglo-Saxon model, by upgrading a national minimum wage and by investing more in health, education and equality issues. A modest revitalisation happened during the New Labour's government, which at least partly tried to respond to the reforms undertaken by the New Right and to include more social elements typical for a social-democrat party.

To sum up, similar to Germany, the British welfare model experienced a liberalisation process during the last decades. It aimed at setting free the market, diminishing the power of the trade unions and rolling back the (welfare) state. Still, while some domains were as radically changed that one can speak of (partial) displacement, other changes fall under the category of layering or drift and some even experienced a modest revitalisation. These findings seem to confirm Streeck and Thelen's suggestion that incremental changes are unlikely to lead to a shift of the entire model. However, they are likely to change the nature and the logic of the welfare regime.

In the case of the UK we clearly see the advantage of a one-party system to implement radical reforms. As it was already mentioned before, the UK being a highly centralised and majoritarian system is quite likely to shift institutions in a different direction or even abolish them. While in Germany a "need" forced the Red-Green coalition to deregulate the welfare state and to open a door for atypical employment which made social-democrats very unpopular until today, the conservative party still enjoys a neat popularity among their electorate. How can this be explained? Possibly, it is because the British electorate was already familiarised with liberal ideas that emphasised self-responsibility and market mechanisms. Another explanation can be that the United State was a major source of inspiration for the UK, also in terms of welfare state development.

5. Conclusion

The European Social Model was a distinctive feature of Western Europe for nearly 30 years. Decent jobs, reasonable working time, little unemployment and comprehensive retirement benefits gave people a strong guarantee to plan their future and to establish families.

However, it started to totter after the oil crises, which impinged on the economic performance and led to climbing unemployment rates. All European countries were forced to find ways in addressing the emerging challenges. Besides the economic woes, these solutions had to be reflective of changing demographics and an economic paradigm, Keynesianism, which did not seem to give the right answers anymore. In this context, neoliberal ideas were diffused by various entities such as international organisations like the OECD but also some MS such as the UK. This is where this thesis sets in because it asks:

What changes of the welfare state models can be observed in Germany and in the United Kingdom during the last decades and how can they be described?

During the last decades, a coherent shift of the welfare state regimes in both countries towards the liberal ideal-typical welfare state can be observed. This occurred in all three dimensions described above, including the access to social protection, the extent of atypical employment and the decreasing role of trade unions and collective bargaining. Applying the enhanced theoretical model of Thelen and Streek, these transformations can be described through all six pattern of change, while layering prevails. However, country as well as domain specific differences can be observed.

Germany, as a blueprint of a conservative model, was confined by its federal political system and by the regional parliaments with different coalitions than on the federal level. Also because of extensive welfare provisions being popular among the population, the German government was very cautious in implementing reforms aiming at greater flexibilisation. However, by the beginning of the 2000s, it became clear that without substantial reforms Germany may remain "a sick man of Europe". Thus, under the Red-Green coalition, reforms were implemented aiming at the flexibilisation of the labour law, restricting the welfare entitlements and activating people for work. "Fördern und Fordern" became a slogan of the

Schröder's government and unemployment status started to be framed as a state of laziness and failure to integrate oneself into society.

However, the paradigm shift was only partial, with layering being the most common pattern of change. Moreover, conversion and partial exhaustion occurred as well. The government's use of UB II to protect the working poor can be described as conversion. Here, we see the active reaction of the state trying to protect the most vulnerable group of society. This active involvement of the state is typical for a conservative model in which it plays a much more important role than in the liberal regime. The partial exhaustion is due to very specific historical circumstances in Germany. It was the unwillingness of the people from Eastern Germany to accept the traditional system of collective bargaining and trade unions, rather than a governmental attempt to weaken an existing institution. Despite this isolated case, the overall observations clearly indicate how path dependent the German welfare regime was in general. This can be explained by the rigidity of its institutions and several veto points together with a high popularity of the welfare state among the German population that prevent radical reforms. Finally, the label "conservative" may already be indicative of the limited will to reform and innovate.

In the UK, the transformation happened more radical, since the British system allows for more decisive reforms with only few veto points and a single party in office. Moreover, it was a personal commitment of Mrs. Thatcher to apply a neoliberal strategy in order to overcome the "British disease" by weakening the power of trade unions, "rolling back" the social provisions and privatising public goods. During that time, the British model definitely became more liberal than it was before. However, even with her decisive reforms, Thatcher did not manage to completely transform the core elements of the welfare state and only succeeded in partly displacing collective bargaining as well as fully abolishing the earnings related supplements. This example of displacement shows that in a majoritarian polity it is easier to withdraw an entire element without facing strong institutional constraints. On top of that, there was relatively strong support for the reforms among the population. This is very distinctive to the British liberal model which emphasises on the self-responsibility. Thus the abolishment of the earnings related benefits was accepted among the population and Thatcher was re-elected, while in Germany the social-democrats failed to remain in office. Drift occurred in the domain of self-employed. This is again a distinctive characteristic for a

liberal model. In contrast to the German case, where the government actively reacted to the working poor and protected them through the unemployment benefits, the government in the UK did not change their rules at all. This inactivity and residual state is very typical for a liberal government, which tries to intervene as little as possible unless there is an urgent need to do so.

All in all, the results on German and British welfare changes are theoretically underpinned by the model of Streeck and Thelen, which assumes the unlikeness of radical transformation of the entire model through incremental changes. However, the model of Streeck and Thelen cannot explain why the reforms are more radical in some welfare state regimes than in others. This limitation will be discussed below.

By moving closer to the liberal ideal type, both countries were successful in tackling high unemployment rates and regaining economic momentum. However, some negative externalities such as rising inequality, child poverty and increasing the number of people working in atypical contracts was the price both countries had to pay for it. Many challenges emerged that may have to be addressed in the near future.

Welfare state models continuously undergo a process of transformation and it is not easy to predict, if both the UK and Germany will continue the path of liberalisation, if they will stick to a mixture of Keynesian and liberal instruments or if they will return to their initial positions. Further research is needed in order to estimate the influence of the financial crisis on both economies and to observe further changes that the countries will undergo.

The last part of the thesis will touch upon major challenges for Germany and the United Kingdom and discuss the limitations of the thesis.

6. Discussion

Previous sections suggested that due to the reforms undertaken under Schröder's government, Germany regained its strong position in the world economy. In the United Kingdom, the trajectory of neoliberalism succeeded in strengthening economic performance and lowering unemployment rates as well.

As a side effect, however, the labour market has become more fragmented, differentiated and decentralised as it was at the beginning of the 80s for the UK and 90s for Germany. Even though the unemployment rates in both countries are relatively low, the total working volume is at 1990 levels, which implies that the increase in atypical forms of employment partly replaced regular jobs. People in non-standard employment are frequently not able to sustain themselves and have to rely on state subsidies. Inequality has grown as well as the gap between rich and poor. There are more working poor and connected to that, more poverty in old age, since people with a low income also receive extremely low pensions. In order to address this challenge, Germany implemented the minimum wage of 8.50 EUR in 2015, which affected approximately 8.5 million workers (Interviewee B; Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 35, 39). This was a first step in the right direction but 8.50 EUR is far from sufficient to overcome old age poverty. In the United Kingdom, there was also a guaranteed minimum income introduced, which, however, does not protect old people from falling below a poverty line either.

For the trade unions, precarious employment and working poor have become their top priority (Interviewees B and E; Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 3). In Germany, the TU state that non-standard contracts are inconsistent with the traditional German model of a social market economy. Atypical employment has also led to increasing inequality that might become a "ticking bomb" for the economic and social order of German capitalism (DGB 2007). In the United Kingdom, the TU do not oppose the non-standard employment per se. They recognise changing dynamics of the labour market and do not demand permanent contracts for all. However, they are fighting against precarious employment in which workers have far less rights than those with standard contracts (Interviewee E).

German trade unions developed some strategies to address precarious employment. This includes the demand to re-introduce stronger legal restrictions to limit precarious employment relationships (such as the abolition of mini-jobs; the right of the part-time workers to get full-time employed; full access for dependent self-employed workers to social security) (Ver.di 2011). The TU also promote a greater coverage by collective agreements to improve conditions of precarious employment and to limit its practice. They advertise a vision of "good work" (*Gute Arbeit*²²) and put it into opposition with precarious employment (Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 28; IG Metall 2007).

Both British and German TU are also trying to reach workers in precarious employment and to provide them with practical information and legal support. Since about one third of all workers are employed under non-standard contracts, it is vital for the TU to reach this group. Different internet platforms were developed in order to offer the unregularly employed information about their rights (such as http://decentjobsweek.org/ (UK); www.hundertprozentich.de (GER)). "As a pilot project in 2007, the DGB regional organisation of Oldenburg-Wilhelmshaven was first local union which opened three local "information offices for precarious workers" where both union and non-union members could get individual support" (Bispinck and Schulten 2011: 34).

However, these attempts can be successful only with political support. Besides the minimum wage implementation in Germany and the MIG in the UK, not much happened in order to address atypical employment. Quite to the contrary, the conservative governments, which hold the majority in the parliaments in both countries, do not make it easier for the TU to take a stand for decent jobs. In Germany, just some weeks ago (May 2015) the

_

According to a broad survey initiated by the government-led project "Initiative New Work Quality" (Initiative Neue Qualität der Arbeit, INQA) involving more than 5,000 workers and asking the question what good work means to them, the answer can be seen as follows: "Work is always rated as being particularly satisfying and positively experienced when it offers as many development, influencing and learning opportunities as possible and is characterised by good social relationships. At the same time, it must prevent inappropriate loads. If work impacts on health too much, this cannot be offset by so many development and learning opportunities, creative and social potentials. Vice versa, work which is described by the employees as not being a negative burden but not as exciting and promoting is also far removed from good work. Thirdly, income also plays a major role. If it does not secure a livelihood or it is in a very unfair relationship to performance, this is perceived by the workers as an inappropriate load and has an impact on daily work. The greater the lack of these three main factors of good work is, the more frequently dissatisfaction, frustration and resignation dominate the picture, which workers paint of their current work. Moreover, these workers report frighteningly often of a high degree of health disorders on working days and, subjectively speaking, consider it rather improbable that they will be able to maintain their workability under these conditions up to retirement age" (INQA 2007: 34).

"Tarifeinheitsgesetz" ("Collective bargaining unity" - the principle of one establishment, one collective agreement) was introduced. It means that in companies with overlapping collective agreements, only the agreement concluded by the majority trade union would apply (Deutscher Bundestag 2015). This principle may damage bargaining autonomy by diminishing the right of smaller unions to conclude collective agreements. It is also very likely to effectively restrict the right to strike for small trade unions, "if the labour courts outlaw industrial action in support of collective agreements they are campaigning for, but which are likely to be superseded by an agreement negotiated by a bigger union" (Kraemer 2015). Hence, the "Tarifeinheitsgesetz" weakened rights of smaller trade unions although the German tradition foresees a right of freedom of coalition, as well as solidarity and cooperation among trade unions.

In the UK even more radical changes can be observed. David Cameron is planning to implement a bill that would ban public service strikes unless they are supported by 40 per cent of the workforce. This intention clearly shows a hardening of the party's line against the unions. Now, even 15 per cent of the workforce can initiate industrial action (Toynbee 2015). Another change David Cameron has declared is the way membership duties are collected. Now, the members of the TU do not have to transfer fees personally, since employers collect them and directly transfer them to the trade unions. The new bill would mean that every member of a trade union is responsible for his or her payment to the TU. This act would make it more difficult for the unions to collect money from their members (Interviewee E). Hence, both bills are planning to reduce the power of the employees' organisations even further.

These developments definitely would not help to improve workers' conditions and to reach greater equality in the society. In the UK, the TUC recognised that the European Union channel is sometimes more efficient than the national level, since the TU in the UK is among the weakest unions in Western Europe. Thus, greater cooperation between European trade unions is very likely to strengthen their position and to support their promotion of decent jobs (Interviewee E).

One thing is clear: non-standard employment has become a new reality and is unlikely to stay. It is up to politicians to regulate it in a way that atypical employment ceases to equal precarious employment in numerous cases.

This thesis was an attempt to map out the institutional changes in the welfare state regimes in Germany and the United Kingdom. Although the work was done as faithful as possible, it has some limitations.

The findings seem to suggest that both the British and the German welfare state were moved by their governments into the direction of the ideal-typical liberal welfare state model. However, they did so at a different pace. Whereas the conservative majority governments in the United Kingdome attempted to decisively "roll back" the welfare state and to set free the market forces, change was significantly less pronounced in Germany. A limitation of this thesis is that it cannot be precisely determined why the UK's welfare state seems to be more prone to the pressures entailing change than the German welfare state. One explanation may be that the liberal ideology fell on more fertile ground in a liberal welfare state regime than in a conservative one. Another explanation may be that the German political system with its multiple veto points is generally more stable and averse to change than the majoritarian system of the UK. Thus a limitation of the model applied in this thesis is that it cannot explain why some welfare states change more quickly than others because there is more than one potential explanatory variable. In order to answer this question, more in-depth research is needed.

This influences the generalisability of the results of this thesis. Although the typology is meant to ease the generalisability of scientific findings, this is undermined by the fact that the political system of a country seems to be an influential variable as well. Consequently, the findings of the thesis can only be generalised to states that fall under the liberal or conservative category of welfare state regimes and that have a similar political system to the countries under scrutiny in this thesis. Thus, further research should focus on how the relation between political systems and welfare state typologies affects institutional change. Moreover, to clarify the impact of each of these factors, a quantitative analysis should be conducted to identify the correlation between welfare state type, political system and specific concepts of institutional change. For instance, research should clarify, whether certain patterns of change appear to be generally more associated with a certain welfare regime or political system. Eventually, this would mean that the theoretical framework of Streeck and Thelen would be amended by solid indicators that allow predicting a certain form of transformation.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that the majority of Interviewees were pleading for better labour rights and more quality work, since they were affiliated with trade unions or social-democratic parties. I got also a chance to speak with a representative of a business organisation (businesseurope), however, after assessing the interviews, I recognised that it hardly contributes to answering the research question. The reason was that their focus on employers' interests does not fit well with the theme of the thesis. Thus, I did not conduct any further interviews with employers' representatives.

Due to limited time, space and resources, this thesis could not fully exploit all its potential. For instance, it would have been interesting to take on board a third case to also research institutional change in a social democratic welfare state regime. Furthermore, the thesis may have benefitted from being more solidly underpinned by empirical evidence, e.g. by conducting interviews with more people to diversify the input. In particular, it was difficult to get in touch with interviewees from the national context, who may be even more aware of the changes that occurred in their domestic context. However, in doing so, I would have needed to travel to Germany and the UK which was not possible due to the lack of time and financial resources.

Bibliography

Interview References

- Interviewee A: MEP (S&D, Member of the Committee on Employment and Social Affairs),
 Germany: Interview on 12th May 2015
- Interviewee B: ETUC (Confederal Secretary of the European Trade Union Confederation): Interview on 3rd June 2015
- Interviewee C: EPRS (Directorate-General for Parliamentary Research Services Economic Policies): Interview on 10th June 2015
- Interviewee D: MEP (S&D, Member of the Committee on Employment and Social Affairs), the UK: Interview on 30th June 2015
- Interviewee E: TUC (Senior Policy Officer): Interview on 1st July 2015

Other sources

- Addison, John T. et al. (2011): Slip Sliding Away: Further Union Decline in Germany and Britain, in: Scottish Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 58 (4), 2011, pp. 490-513.
- Allmendinger, Jutta et al. (2013): Atypical Employment in the United Kingdom, Discussion Paper, in: Social Science Research Center Berlin (WZB), Aug. 2013, available at: http://www.wzb.eu/sites/default/files/u477/uk_atypical_employment.pdf, last access: 29.05.2015.
- Ante, Christine (2008): Pension Policy Reforms in Germany, in: working papers, No. 10,
 March 2008, Hertie School of Governance.
- Arts, Wil and Gelissen, John (2002): Three worlds of welfare capitalism or more? A state-of-the-art report, in: Journal of European Social Policy, vol. 12 (2), 2002, pp. 137-158.
- Bäcker, Gerhard and Kistler, Ernst (2014): Das 3-Säulen-System der Alterssicherung in Deutschland, in: Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, available at: http://www.bpb.de/politik/innenpolitik/rentenpolitik/141459/das-3-saeulen-system-der-alterssicherung, last access: 15.06.2015.
- Barbieri, Paolo and Scherer, Stefani (2009): Labor market flexibilisation and its
 consequences in Italy, in: European Sociological Review, Volume 25 (6), 2009, pp. 677-692.
- Béland, Daniel (2007): Ideas and Institutional Change in Social Security: Conversion, Layering, and Policy Drift, in: Social Science Quartely, Vol. 88(1), 2007, pp.20-38.

- Biebeler, Hendrik and Lesch, Hagen (2006): Mitgliederstruktur der Gewerkschaften in Deutschland, in: Vierteljahresschrift zur empirischen Wirtschaftsforschung aus dem Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft Köln, Vol. 33(4), 2006, pp. 1-16.
- Bispinck, Reinhard and Schulten, Thorsten (2012): Trade Union Responses to Precarious Employment in Germany, in: WSI Diskussionspapiere, available at: http://www.boeckler.de/pdf/p_wsi_disp_178.pdf, last access: 13.05.2015.
- Blake, David (2000): Two decades of pension reform in the UK: What are the implications for occupational pension schemes?, in: The Pensions Institute, Vol. 22(3), 2000, pp. 223-245.
- Blake, David (2003): The UK pension system: Key issues, in: Pensions, Vol. 8(4), pp. 330-375.
- Blanchflower, David G. and Freeman, Richard (1993): Did the Thatcher Reforms Change
 British Labour Market Performance?, available at:
 http://www.dartmouth.edu/~blnchflr/papers/Thatcher.pdf, last access: 01.07.2015.
- Bosch, Gerhard et al. (eds) (2009): European Employment Models in Flux, London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bonoli, Giuliano (1997): Classifying Welfare States: a Two-dimension Approach, in: Journal of Social Policy, Vol. 26 (3), 1997, pp. 351–72.
- Borsch-Supan, Alex. H. and Wilke, Christine B. (2003): The German Public Pension System: How it was, How it will be, in: NBER Working Paper No. 10525, May 2004.
- Börsch-Supan, Axel H. et al. (2012): Riester Pensions in Germany: Design, Dynamics,
 Targetting Success and Crowding-In, in: National Bureau of economic research, October 2012, pp. 81-102.
- Brenke, Karl et al. (2006): Evaluation der Maßnahmen zur Umsetzung der Vorschläge der Hartz-Kommission, Bericht 2006 für das Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales, Modul 1b: Förderung beruflicher Weiterbildung und Transferleistungen, available at: http://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/PDF-Publikationen/fb-f356b-evaluation-der-massnahmen-hartz-arbeitspaket-1b.pdf?__blob=publicationFile, last access: 28.04.2015.
- Brenke, Karl (2011): Ongoing change in the structure of part-time employment, in: DIW Economic Bulletin, 6.2011.
- Brinkley, Ian (2014): Zero Hour Contracts: response to the BIS consultation, in: the work foundation, available at: http://www.mbsportal.bl.uk/taster/subjareas/hrmemplyrelat/twf/164300zerohour14.pdf, last access: 02.06.2015.
- Broughton, Andera (2010): Flexible forms of work: very atypical contractual arrangements,
 European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2010.

- Bundesagentur für Arbeit (2014): Statistik. Analyse der Grundsicherung für Arbeitssuchende. Juni 2014, available at: http://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/Statischer-Content/Statistische-Analysen/Analytikreports/Zentrale-Analytikreports/Monatliche-Analytikreports/Generische-Publikationen/Analyse-Grundsicherung-Arbeitsuchende/Analyse-Grundsicherung-Arbeitsuchende-201406.pdf, last access: 26.06.2015.
- Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (2002): Moderne Dienstleistungen am Arbeitsmarkt, available at: http://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/PDF-Publikationen/moderne-dienstleistungen-am-arbeitsmarkt.pdf?__blob=publicationFile, last access: 27.04.2015.
- Caldarini, Carlo et al. (2014): The "place" of atypical work in the European social security coordination: A transnational comparative analysis, in: WP C.S.D.L.E. "Massimo D'Antona" .Collective Vol.2 (1), 2014, available at: http://csdle.lex.unict.it/Archive/WP/WP%20CSDLE%20M%20DANTONA/WP%20CSDLE%20M%20DANTONA-Collective%20Volumes/20140328-092326_caldarinigiubboni_mckay_collvol22014enpdf.pdf, last access: 29.05.2015.
- Castles, Francis G. (1998): Comparative Public Policy: Patterns of Post-war Transformation,
 Cheltenham, Edward Elgar.
- Clasen, Jochen (2005): Reforming European Welfare States. Germany and the United Kingdom Compared, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Clegg, Sue (1989): Thatcher and the Welfare State, in: International Socialism, Vol. 2 (44), 1989, available at: https://www.marxists.org/history/etol/newspape/isj2/1989/isj2-044/clegg.html, last access: 01.06.2015.
- Coates, David (2000): Models of Capitalism: Growth and Stagnation in the Modern Era,
 Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Comodromos, George and Ferrer, Justince (2011): Incremental Institutional Change and Australian Universities, in: International Review of Business Research papers, Vol. 7(1), 2011, pp. 330-339.
- Council Decision (2005/600/EC) on Guidelines for the employment policies of the Member States, O.J. L 205/21.
- Countouris, Nicola (2007): The Changing Law of the Employment Relationship. Comparative
 Analyses in the European Context, Burlington: Ashgate Publishing Company.
- Cousins, Mel (2005): European Welfare States. Comparative Perspective, London: SAGE Publications.

- Crook, Nick (2010): Collective Bargaining in the UK and EU, available at:
 http://www.socialeurope.eu/2010/07/collective-bargaining-in-the-uk-and-eu/, last access:
 02.07.2015.
- Crouch, Colin and Keune, Marteen (2005): Changing Dominant Practice: Making Use of Institutional Diversity in Hungary and the UK, pp. 83-102, in: W. Streeck and K. Thelen (eds). Beyond Continuity: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Deutscher Bundestag (2015): Streit über das Streikrecht von Gewerkschaften, available at: https://www.bundestag.de/dokumente/textarchiv/2015/kw10_de_tarifeinheit/363032, last access: 06.07.2015.
- **DGB (2007)**: Prekäre Beschäftigung wird zur tickenden Zeitbombe, Press Release No. 154 from 6 September 2007, available at: http://www.dgb.de/presse/++co++9fe6363a-155e-11df-4ca9-00093d10fae2, last access: 13.05.2015.
- DGB Einblick (2014): Tarifpolitik: Der Osten wartet weiter, available at: http://einblick.dgb.de/++co++e5641c9c-0814-11e4-b7d2-52540023ef1a, last access: 27.06.2015.
- **Die Bundesregierung (2014)**: Soziale Gerechtigkeit. Gesetzlicher Mindestlohn, available at: http://www.bundesregierung.de/Content/DE/Artikel/2014/07/2014-07-03-mindestlohn-bundestag.html, last access: 13.05.2015.
- Dingeldey, Irene (2005): Welfare state transformation between workfare and an enabling state: a comparative analysis. TranState working papers, No. 21, available at: http://econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/28271/1/49782261X.PDF, last access: 25.02.2015.
- Dostal, Werner et all. (1998): Beruf Auflösungstendenzen und erneute Konsolidierung;
 Mitteilungen aus der Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, Volume 31 (3), 1998, pp. 438-458.
- Dribbusch, Heiner and Birke, Peter (2012): Trade Unions in Germany. Organisation, Environment, Challenges, in: Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, available at: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/id-moe/09113-20120828.pdf, last access: 10.05.2015.
- **Duell, Klaus and Duell, Nicola (2002)**: Precarious Employment in Germany, discussion paper, in: economix, available at: http://www.economix.org/pdf/ECONOMIX-precarious-employment-Germany.pdf, last access: 16.04.2015.
- Dustmann, Christian et al. (2014): From Sick Man of Europe to Economic Superstar: Germany's Resurgent Economy, Discussion Paper Series CDP No 06/14, available at: http://www.cream-migration.org/publ_uploads/CDP_06_14.pdf, last access: 19.03.2015.

- Ebbinghaus, Bernhard (2002): Trade unions' changing role: membership erosion, organisational reform, and social partnership in Europe, in: European Annual Review 2001/2002, ed. by Mike Terry (Special issue, Industrial Relations Journal, December 2002).
- Edwarda, Paul (2006): Non-standard work and labour market re-structuring in the UK, in: Paper for Associazione Nuovi Lavori conference on "The Latest" in the Labour Market", Rome, 23 February 2006, available at: http://www2.warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/wbs/research/irru/publications/recentconf/pe_rome.p df, last access: 31.05.2015.
- Encyclopedia Britannica (2015): closed shop, available at:
 http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/122178/closed-shop, last access: 04.06.2015.
- Ervasti, Heikki et al. (eds) (2012): The Future Of The Welfare State. Social Policy Attitudes and Social Capital in Europe, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Esping-Andersen, Gosta (1990): The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Esping-Andersen, Gosta (eds) (1996): Welfare States in Transition: National Adaptations in Global Economies, London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Erostat (2012): Expenditure on social protection, 2002–12 (% of GDP), available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/File:Expenditure_on_social_protection,_2002%E2%80%9312_%28%25_ of_GDP%29_YB15.png, last access: 11.06.2015.
- Eurostat (2014): Employment statistics, available at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Employment_statistics, last access: 26.02.2015.
- Fairbrother, Peter (2007): Trade Union Revitalisation: Trends and Perspectives in the United Kingdom, in: Phelan Craig (eds) (2007): Trade Union Revitalisation. Trends and Prospects in 34 Countries, Bern: Peter Lang AG.
- Fay, Robert G. (1996): Enhancing the effectiveness of active labour market policies: evidence from programme evaluations in OECD countries, in: OECD Labour Market and Social Policy Occasional Papers, No. 18, OECD Publishing, available at: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/download/5lgsjhvj7tjl.pdf?expires=1427798429&id=id&accname=gue st&checksum=E1735C3175CBCB5276E620B0D96DBAF1, last access: 31.03.2015.
- Fernandez-Macias, Enrique (2012): Patterns of Employment Expansion in Europe, 1995-2007, in: Fernandez-Macias et al. (eds): Transformation of the Employment Structure in the EU and USA, 1995-2007, New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Ferrera, Maurizio (1996): The "Southern" Model of Welfare in Social Europe, in: Journal of European Social Policy, Vol. 6 (1), 1996, pp. 17–37.

- Freedland, Mark (2013): Burying Caesar: What Was the Standard Employment Contract?, in: Stone, Katherine V.W. and Arthurs, Harry (eds): Rethinking Workplace Regulation. Beyond the Standard Contract of Employment, New York, Russell Sage Foundation, pp. 81-94.
- Gazier, Bernard and Bruggeman, Frederic (eds) (2008): Restructuring Work and Employment in Europe. Managing Change in an Era of Globalisation, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Giddens, Anthony (2006): Sociology, 5th edition, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- GovYou (2015): Job Seekers Allowance New Rules, available at:
 http://www.govyou.co.uk/job-seekers-allowance-new-rules/, last access: 01.07.2015.
- Grahl, John and Teague, Paul (2013): Reconstructing the Eurozone: the role of EU social policy, pp. 677–692. in: Cambridge Journal of Economics, Vol. 37(1),2013.
- Guardiancich, Igor (2010): United Kingdom. Current pension system: first assessment of reform outcomes and output, in: European Social Observatory, May 2010.
- Gumbrell-Mccormick, Rebecca and Hyman, Richard (2013): Trade Unions in Western
 Europe. Hard Times, Hard Choices, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hacker, Bjorn (2013): The End of the European Social Model as We Have Envisioned It?
 Political Economy Principles in Europe May Be Changed by the Economic Crisis Governance,
 Mimeo, Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.
- Hain, Peter (2015): Back to the Future of Socialism, Bristol, Policy Press: University of Bristol.
- Haipeter, Thomas (2013): Erosion, Exhaustion, or Renewal? New Forms of Collective Bargaining in Germany, in: Stone, Katherine V.W. and Arthurs, Harry (eds) (2013): Rethinking Workplace Regulation. Beyond the Standard Contract of Employment, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, pp. 115-134.
- Hall, Peter A. and Soskice, David (2001): Varieties of Capitalism. The Institutional
 Foundations of Comparative Advantage, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hallenberg, Mark (2013): Challenges for the German Welfare State before and After the Global Financial Crisis, in: Cato Journal, Vol. 33 (2),2013.
- Hancké, Bob and Thatcher, Mark (2007): Introduction: Beyond Varieties of Capitalism, in: Hancké, B., Rhodes M. and Thatcher, M. (eds), Beyond Varieties of Capitalism. Conflict, Contradiction, and Complementarities in the European Economy, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 3-38.
- Hantrais, Linda (2003): Policy Review of "Family and Welfare Research". For the European Commission, available at:
 ftp://ftp.cordis.europa.eu/pub/citizens/docs/hantrais_report_en.pdf, last access: 26.5.2015.

- Hemerijck, Anton (2002): The Self-Transformation of the European Social Model(s), in: Gosta E-A (eds): Why do we need a new welfare state, Oxford: Oxford university press, pp. 173-215.
- Hemerijck, Anton (2013): Changing Welfare States, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hemerijck, Anton et al. (2013): Changing European Welfare States and the Evolution of Migrant Incorporation Regimes Background paper reviewing welfare state structures and reform dynamics in a comparative perspective, in: IMPACIM, available at: https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/fileadmin/files/Publications/Research_projects/Welfare/IMPA CIM/IMPACIM_Changing_European_Welfare_States.pdf, last access: 29.04.2015.
- **Hevenstone, Debra (2008)**: Policy Approaches to Atypical Employment, available at: http://sm.psc.isr.umich.edu/debra/policyPaper.pdf, last access: 16.04.2015.
- Hills, John (1998): Thatcherism, New Labour and the Welfare State, in: CASEpaper, Case/13, August 1998, available at: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/5553/1/Thatcherism_New_Labour_and_the_Welfare_State.pdf, last access: 30.05.2015.
- HM Treasury (1979): The Government's Expenditure Plans 1980-81, Cmnd 7746, London, HMSO.
- Hopkin, Jonathan and Blyth, Mark (2004): How Many Varieties of Capitalism? Structural Reform and Inequality in Western Europe, in: Paper prepared for panel on "Worlds of Welfare, Hybrid Systems, and Political Choice: Do Welfare Regimes Constrain Anti-Inequality Programmes?", annual meeting of American Political Science Association, 1-5 September 2004, available at: http://personal.lse.ac.uk/hopkin/apsahopkinblyth.pdf, last access: 10.06.2015.
- Hills, John and Stewart, Kitty (2005): A more equal society? New Labour, poverty, inequality and exclusion, Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Inequality Watch (2012): Increasing poverty in Germany: differences according to region, household and age, available at: http://www.inequalitywatch.eu/spip.php?article113&lang=fr, last access: 28.04.2015.
- INQA (Initiative Neue Qualität der Arbeit) (2007): What is Good Work? That's what workers expect from their job, Dortmund and Berlin, available at: http://www.inqa.de/SharedDocs/PDFs/EN/what-is-good-work.pdf?__blob=publicationFile, last access: 13.05.2015.
- Jackson, Gregory and Sorge, Arndt (2012): The trajectory of institutional change in Germany, 1979–2009, in: Journal of European Policy, Volume 19 (8), 2012, pp. 1146-1167.

- Jacobi, Lena and Kluve, Jochen (2006): Before and After the Hartz Reforms: The Performance of Active Labour Market Policy in Germany, in: IZA DP No. 2100, available at: http://ftp.iza.org/dp2100.pdf, last access: 22.04.2015.
- Japan Institute for Employment Policy and Training (JILPT) (2011): Non-regular employment
 Issues and challenges common to the major developed countries, JILPT Report No 10,
 Tokyo.
- Jepsen, Maria and Pascual, Amparo Serrano (2005): The European Social Model: an exercise and deconstruction, in: Journal of European Social Policy, Vol. 15 (3), 2005, pp. 231-245.
- Jones, Colin and Murie, Alan (2006): The Right to Buy. Analysis & evaluation of a housing policy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Keller, Berndt and Seifert, Hartmut (2013): Atypical employment in Germany. Forms, development, patterns, in: etui, Transfer, Volume 19(4), 2013, pp. 457–474.
- Knuth, Matthias (2007): Implementing the new basic allowance for job seekers in Germany, Discussion Paper, available at: http://www.resqresearch.org/uploaded_files/publications/knuth3.pdf, last access: 27.04.2015.
- Korpi, Walter and Palme, Joachim (2003): New Politics and Class Politics in the Context of Austerity and Globalisation: Welfare State Regress in 18 Countries, 1975-95, in: The American Political Science Review, Vol. 97 (3), 2003, pp. 425-446.
- Kraemer, Birgit (2015): Germany: Right to strike and representativeness of small trade unions, available at: http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/articles/industrial-relations/germany-right-to-strike-and-representativeness-of-small-trade-unions, last access: 07.07.2015.
- Krebs, Tom and Scheffel, Martin (2013): Macroeconomic Evaluation of Labor Market Reform in Germany, available at: http://krebs.vwl.uni-mannheim.de/fileadmin/user_upload/krebs/pdf/hartz.pdf, last access: 28.04.2015.
- Krzywdzinski, Martin (2014): Do investors avoid strong trade unions and labour regulation? Social dumping in the European automotive and chemical industries, in: Work, Employment and Society, Vol. 28 (6), 2014, pp. 926-945.
- Lambsdorff, O. Graf (1982): Konzept für eine Politik zur Überwindung der Wachstumsschwäche und zur Bekämpfung der Arbeitslosigkeit, in: Friedrich Naumann Stiftung, Archiv des Liberalismus, available at: https://liberalesinstitut.files.wordpress.com/2012/09/doku_a5_lambsdorff_484s_print_e_w eb2.pdf, last access: 17.04.2015.

- Leschke, Janine (2008): Unemployment Insurance and Non-Standard Employment. Four
 European Countries in Comparision, Wiesbaden, VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Lefresne, Florence (2010): United Kingdom. The limited protection offered by unemployment benefit, in: Lefresne, Florence (2010): Unemployment benefit systems in Europe and North America: reforms and crisis, Brussels, IRES/ETUI, pp. 175-189.
- Lehndorff Steffen et al. (2009): From the "Sick Man" to the "Overhauled Engine" of Europe?
 Upheaval in the German Model, in: Bosch, Gerhard et al. (eds): European Employment
 Models in Flux, London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Mahoney, James and Thelen, Kathleen (2010): Explaining Institutional Change: Ambiguity,
 Agency, and Power, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- MISSOC (2014): MISSOC comparative tables: 2014-07-01, available at: http://www.missoc.org/MISSOC/INFORMATIONBASE/COMPARATIVETABLES/MISSOCDATAB ASE/printSearchResult.jsp?dateID=1044&languageID=11&topicIDs=39339,39340,39341,3934 2,39343,39344,39345,39346,39347,39348,39349,39350,39351,39352,39353,39354,39355,39 356,39357,39358,39359,39360,39361,39362,39363,39364,39365,39366,39367,39368,39369, 39370,39371,39372,39373&countryIDs=10,28&dateInfo=2014-07-01, last access: 25.06.2015.
- Mückenberger, Ulrich (2007): Folgerungen aus der Krise des Normalarbeitsverhältnisses, in: Lorenz, F. and Schneider, G. (eds): Ende der Normalarbeit? Mehr Solidarität statt weniger Sicherheit – Zukunft betrieblicher Interessenvertretung, Hamburg, pp. 80-109.
- Oakley, Matthew (2014): Independent review of the operation of Jobseeker's Allowance sanctions validated by the Jobseekers Act 2013, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/335144/js a-sanctions-independent-review.pdf, last access: 01.07.2015.
- OECD (2004): Net replacement rates and unemployment insurance benefit duration in 26
 OECD countries, 2004, available at: http://www.oecd.org/about/publishing/36965805.pdf,
 last access: 05.06.2015.
- OECD (2005): Employment Outlook, available at: http://www.keepeek.com/Digital-Asset-Management/oecd/employment/oecd-employment-outlook-2005_empl_outlook-2005-en#page1, last access: 09.07.2015.
- OECD (2011): Income Inequality, available at: http://www.oecd.org/berlin/47570121.pdf,
 last access: 06.06.2015.
- OECD (2015a): Trade Union Density, available at:
 https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=UN_DEN#, last access: 05.06.2015.

- OECD (2015b): Employment Rate, available at: https://data.oecd.org/emp/employment-rate.htm#indicator-chart, last access: 05.06.2015.
- O-Ton Arbeitsmarkt (2014): Warum es in Deutschland "nur" rund 3 Millionen Arbeitslose, aber 7 Millionen Hartz IV- und Arbeitslosengeldempfänger gibt, availible at: http://www.o-ton-arbeitsmarkt.de/o-ton-news/warum-es-in-deutschland-nur-rund-3-millionen-arbeitslose-aber-7-millionen-hartz-iv-und-arbeitslosengeldempfaenger-gibt, last access: 26.06.2015.
- Phelan, Craig (eds) (2007): Trade Union Revitalisation. Trends and Prospects in 34 Countries,
 Berrn, Peter Lang AG.
- Pierson, Paul (1996): The Path to European Integration: A historical Institutionalist Approach, in: Comparative Political Studies, Vol. 29(2), 1996, pp. 123-163.
- Purcell, John (1993): The End of Institutional Industrial Relations, Vol. 64(1), 1993, pp.6–23.
- Põder Kaire and Kaie Kerem (2011): "Social Models" in a European Comparison.

 Convergence or Divergence?, in: Eastern European Economics, Vol. 49 (5),2011, pp. 55–74.
- Regulation 2002, No. 2034: The Fixed-term Employees (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment), available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/2034/contents/made, last access: 02.07.2015.
- Riphahna, Regina T. and Wunder, Christoph (2013): Welfare transitions before and after reforms of the German welfare system, in: Institute for the Study of Labor (iza), available at: http://www.iza.org/conference_files/Safety_Nets_2013/wunder_c2792.pdf, last access: 27.04.2015.
- Ritter, Gerhard A. (2006): Der Preis der deutschen Einheit: Die Wiedervereinigung und die Krise des Sozialstaats. Wie Wiedervereinigung und die Krise des Sozialstaates, München: Beck.
- Rocco, Philip and Thurston, Chloe (2014): From metaphors to measures: observable indicators of gradual institutional change, in: Journal of Public Policy, Vol. 34(1), 2014, pp. 35-62.
- Rogowski, Ralf (2008): The European Social Model and Transitional Labour Markets,
 Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group.
- Rogowski, Ralf et al. (eds) (2011): Transforming European Employment Policy. Labour
 Market Transitions and the Promotion of Capability, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing
- Rubery, Jill et al. (2008): The Influence of the EU on the Evolution of National Employment Models, available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/--inst/documents/publication/wcms_193244.pdf, last access: 30.03.2015.

- Rubery, Jill et al. (2009): Revisiting the UK Model: From Basket Vase to Success Story and Back Agian?, in: Bosch, Gerhard et al. (eds) (2009): European Employment Models in Flux, London: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 57-80.
- Sage, Daniel (2014): Do Active Labour Market Policies Promote the Well-Being, Health and Social Capital of the Unemployed? Evidence from the UK, in: Social Indicators Research, Vo. 10(1), 2014, pp. 1-19.
- Scharpf, Fritz W. (2006): The Joint-Decision Trap Revisited, in: JCMS, Vol. 44 (4), 2006, pp. 845–64.
- Scharpf, Fritz W. and Schmidt, Vivien A. (eds.) 2000: Welfare and Work in the Open Economy, 2 Volumes, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Scherschel, Karin et al. (eds) (2012): Neue Prekarität. Die Folgen aktivierender
 Arbeitsmarktpolitik europäische Länder im Vergleich, Frankfurt am Main: Campus.
- Schmeißer, Claudia et al. (2012): Atypische Beschäftigung in Europa 1996-2009, in: Discussion Paper P 2012-001, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung, availiable at: http://bibliothek.wzb.eu/pdf/2012/p12-001.pdf, last access: 12.07.2015.
- Schmidt, Werner and Dworschak, Bernd (2006): Pay Developments in Britain and Germany: Collective Bargaining, "Benchmarking", and "Mimetic Wages", In: European Journal of Industrial Relations, Vol. 12 (1), 2006, pp. 89-109.
- Schmid, Günther and Protsch, Paula (2009): Wandel der Erwerbsformen in Deutschland und Europe, in: Discussion Paper SP I 2009-505, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung.
- Scruggs, Lyle A. and Allan, James P. (2006): Social Stratification and Welfare Regimes for the 21st Century: Revisiting the "Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism", in: World Politics, Vol. 60(4), 2006, pp. 642 – 664.
- Smith, Stephen W. (2003): Labour Economics, New York: Routledge.
- Smolny, Werner (2009): Wage adjustment, competitiveness and unemployment East Germany after unification, available at: https://www.uni-ulm.de/fileadmin/website_uni_ulm/mawi.inst.150/research/wcu2009.pdf, last access: 28.04.2015.
- Solicitors, Thompsons (2014): Employment & Personal Injury Booklets: Unfair Dismissal and Redundancy, available at: http://www.thompsonstradeunionlaw.co.uk/information-and-resources/unfair-dismissal-redundancy.htm, last access: 31.05.2015.
- Standing, Guy (2011): The Precariat: The New Dangerous Class, London: Bloomsbury
 Academic.
- Statista (2015a): Leistungsempfänger von Arbeitslosengeld I im Jahresdurchschnitt von 2000
 bis 2015 (in 1.000), availible at:

- http://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1377/umfrage/leistungsempfaenger-von-arbeitslosengeld-jahresdurchschnittswerte/, last access: 26.06.2015.
- Statista (2015b): Leistungsempfänger von Arbeitslosengeld II im Jahresdurchschnitt von 2006 bis 2015, available at:
 - http://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1396/umfrage/leistungsempfaenger-von-arbeitslosengeld-ii-jahresdurchschnittswerte/, last access: 26.06.2015.
- Statista (2015c): Arbeitslosenquote in Deutschland von Juni 2014 bis Juni 2015, available at: http://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1239/umfrage/aktuelle-arbeitslosenquote-in-deutschland-monatsdurchschnittswerte/, last access: 07.07.2015.
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2008): Atypische Beschäftigung auf dem deutschen Arbeitsmarkt, available at:
 - https://www.destatis.de/DE/PresseService/Presse/Pressekonferenzen/2008/Arbeitsmarkt/Pressebroschuere_Arbeitsmarkt.pdf?__blob=publicationFile, last access: 09.07.2015.
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2013): Pressemitteilung: Mehr Jobs, aber auch mehr Armut, available at: https://www.destatis.de/DE/PresseService/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2013/11/PD13_400_p001.html;jsessionid=9FD53C168C0FCAA6EFE0654E22950241.cae2, last access: 28.04.2015.
- Stone, Katherine V.W. and Arthurs, Harry (eds) (2013): Rethinking Workplace Regulation.
 Beyond the Standard Contract of Employment, New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Streeck, Wolfgang (1997): Beneficial Constrains: On the Economic Limits of Rational Voluntarism, in: J.R. Hollingsworth and R. Boyer (eds): Contemporary Capitalism: The Embeddedness, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 197-219.
- Streeck, Wolfgang and Thelen, Kathleen (eds) (2005): Beyond Continuity: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Swedish National Data Service (2015): Social Citizenship Indicator Program, available at: http://snd.gu.se/en/catalogue/series/55, last access: 05.06.2015.
- **Taborda, Joana (2015)**: United Kingdom Unemployment Rate 1971-2015, available at: http://www.tradingeconomics.com/united-kingdom/unemployment-rate, last access: 30.05.2015.
- The Guardian (2011): OECD inequality report: how do different countries compare?, available at: http://www.theguardian.com/news/datablog/2011/dec/05/oecd-inequality-report-uk-us, last access: 06.06.2015.
- Thelen, Kathleen (1999): Historical Institutionalism in Comparative Politics, in: Annual Review of Political Science, Vol. 2 (1), 1999, pp. 369-404.

- Thelen, Kathleen (2004): How Institutions Evolve: The Political Economy of Skills in Germany, Britain, the United States, and Japan, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Trade Union Congress (2010): Trade Unions at Work: What they are and What they do,
 London, Trade Union Congress.
- Trésor-Economics (2013): How have the Hartz reforms shaped the German labour market?, No. 110, March 2013, available at: http://www.tresor.economie.gouv.fr/File/386657, last access: 28.04.2015.
- UNICEF (2007): Child Poverty in Perspective: an Overview of Child Well-Being in Rich Countries, in: Unicef Innocenti Research Centre, Report Card 7.
- Urbe, Robert (ed.) (2013): The Future of the Welfare State, Freiburg: Lambertus.
- Van Kersbergen, Kees (1995): Social Capitalism: A Study of Christian Democracy and the Welfare State, London, Routledge.
- Ver.di (2011): Ratgeber atypische Beschäftigung, 11th Edition, Berlin: ver.di, available at: http://handel.verdi.de/++file++5385fae16f684432de0001b6/download/Ratgeber-atypische-Beschaeftigung-11.-Auflage-Dezember-2011.pdf, last access: 13.05.2015.
- Vliet, Olaf V. and Koster, Ferry (2011): Europeanization and the political economy of active labour market policies, in: European Union Politics, Vol. 12(2), 2011, pp. 217–239.
- Vail, Mark I. (2010): Recasting Welfare Capitalism. Economic Adjustment in Contemporary
 France and Germany, Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Weishaupt, Timo J. (2011): From the Manpower Revolution to the Activation Paradigm.
 Explaining Institutional Continuity and Change in an Integrating Europe, Amsterdam:
 Amsterdam University Press.
- Whitton, Timothy (2003): The Growth of Precarious Employment in Great Britain, in: Revue française de civilization britannique, Vol. 20 (1), 2003, pp. 51-66.
- Wohlgemuth, Michael (2008): A European Social Model of State-Market Relations. The
 Ethics of Competition from a "Neo-liberal" Perspective, in: zfwu, Vol. 9 (1), 2008, pp. 69-87.
- Wunsch, Conny (2006): Labour Market Policy in Germany: Institutions, Instruments and Reforms since Unification, in: Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=707422, last access: 27.04.2015.